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Honourable Roger Cook MLA Deputy Premier; Minister for Health; Mental Health.

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of PathWest Laboratory 
Medicine WA for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Joe Boyle
Chief Executive
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA

13 October 2020

Statement of compliance
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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Overview of agency
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The past 12 months, PathWest’s second year as 
a stand-alone Health Service Provider (HSP), 
have been both challenging and rewarding. 
I continue to be inspired by the work undertaken 
by PathWest’s staff. From our specimen 
collectors and couriers in the community, to the 
technical assistants, scientists and pathologists 
in the labs, plus the corporate staff working in 
support behind the scenes, all have played an 
integral role in strengthening PathWest’s services and reputation as  
a leader in forensic and pathology services. 

At the beginning of the year we had a clear set of objectives and plans, only to see 
those dramatically affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 2019/20 has been a year 
like no other, with pathology and forensic testing very much coming under the 
spotlight. Our Forensic Biology team continue to play a vital, and sometimes very 
high profile, role for the WA judicial system and our pathology testing has been at the 
forefront of the State’s COVID-19 response. Our Microbiology experts have been 
outstanding in rapidly developing test methodologies and putting in place fast and 
reliable test processes underpinning Public Health decision making and strategies to 
handle this unprecedented pandemic.

Despite the challenges faced throughout this year, PathWest has delivered strong 
financial results and in partnership with the WA Department of Health and State 
Government, effectively managed the various cost challenges arising from the 
pandemic.

We have also seen innovation and excellence prevail, and throughout this report you 
will see how the adoption of new science and technology is making a difference to 
health and forensic outcomes in WA. These include:

 Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy for patients with blood cancers.

 Whole Exome Sequencing that identifies a person at increased risk of developing 
a disease (such as cancer) in the future.

 Rapid method for organ allocation to determine an exact match between a donor 
and recipient.

 Statewide comprehensive genomic testing which will revolutionise how cancer is 
treated in WA by further understanding its genetics in much greater detail.

 Advanced liquid handling platforms for the extraction and preparation of samples 
for forensic deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) profiling.

Executive summary

Below: Joe Boyle with Busselton staff pre LIS go-live
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Executive summary
The introduction of PathWest’s innovation and research funds has also led to new 
and inspiring ideas, and increased local grass roots initiatives, the results of which 
will come to fruition in the coming years.

Although the roll-out timetable of PathWest’s new laboratory information system 
(LIS) has been impacted by COVID-19, implementation has restarted, with 
completion still expected before the end of 2020. The LIS project team has shown 
incredible resilience to maintain focus and energy on this crucial project. We will be 
able to start 2021 with a fully functional, integrated, modern laboratory system that 
will be a crucial component of PathWest’s digital backbone.

During the year we welcomed two new executive members to PathWest, bringing a 
greater strategic focus to our corporate and clinical disciplines. 

We also welcomed Professor Christobel Saunders as our first Board Chair and the 
inauguration of our new Board, coming into effect on 1 July 2020. 

In conclusion, I would like again to acknowledge the PathWest staff. Their dedication 
and professionalism is of the highest order. Our range and quality of service is 
unparalleled in this State and continues to have a significant impact on the success 
of the health, and judicial systems in the service of the citizens of Western Australia.

On behalf of the PathWest Executive Committee, I am proud to present the  
2019/20 PathWest Annual Report.

Joe Boyle
Chief Executive
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA

Left: Joe Boyle (front left) with Dr Dominic 
Mallon, Dr Benhur Amanuel and Hon. Kate 
Doust in Anatomical Pathology
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Operational structure

Enabling legislation
PathWest was established as a Chief Executive (CE) governed Health Service 
Provider (HSP) from 1 July 2018, by the Minister for Health under section 32(1)(b) 
of the Health Services Act 2016 WA (the Act).

Accountable authority
The PathWest CE is the governing authority for PathWest and is required to perform 
the functions and exercise the powers of the HSP as stipulated in the Act or any 
other written law, including the Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA) and 
Financial Management Act 2006 (WA).

Minister
PathWest is responsible to the Minister for Health, the Honourable Roger Cook MLA.
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Executive structure
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PathWest Board
The 2019 Sustainable Health Review recommended the establishment of a board of 
governance for PathWest by July 2020. 

In March 2020, Professor Christobel Saunders was appointed as interim PathWest 
Board Chair, with remaining Members appointed in June 2020 following an open, 
skills-based recruitment process. Members possess a wealth of skills, experience 
and knowledge to ensure they can appropriately guide PathWest to continue to 
deliver safe, high-quality and sustainable health care to the WA community.

As of 1 July 2020, PathWest will become a Board governed statutory authority that 
is legally responsible and accountable for the delivery of safe, high-quality, efficient 
and economical health services to WA.

It is anticipated the Board will meet monthly, with the intention to have four sub 
committees: Finance, Audit and Risk, Safety and Quality and People and Culture. 

Pathology is the cornerstone of medical diagnosis and 
PathWest has provided excellence in pathology to the 
community of Western Australia for over 15 years.  With the 
formation of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA into a new 
Board-governed HSP, there is a huge opportunity to help lead 
the organisation into a new era.  One where innovation in pathology, 
genomics and forensic biology improving efficiency and efficacy of pathology 
and forensic testing and continuing to develop a world-class diagnostic 
service will improve health and justice outcomes for all West Australians.   
I am very proud to work with both the new Board and the dedicated staff of 
PathWest to help realise this vision.

– Professor Christobel Saunders

Dr David Russel-Weisz, Angie Paskevicius, Kevin Taylor, Joe Boyle, Prof. Christobel Saunders, Hon. Roger Cook, Samantha Elder, 
Dr Sue van Leeuwen and Michelle Dolin.

The inaugural Board comprises  
the following members:

Professor Christobel Saunders,  
Board Chair
Professor Tarun Weeramanthri,  
Deputy Board Chair
Ms Michele Dolin, Board Member
Ms Samantha Elder, Board Member
Professor Gelareh Farshid,  
Board Member
Dr Kim Hames, Board Member
Mr Robert McPhee, Board Member
Ms Angie Paskevicius, Board Member
Mr Kevin Taylor, Board Member 
Dr Sue van Leeuwen, Board Member
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About PathWest
As the pathology and forensic service of the WA Health System, PathWest plays a 
unique and integral role, providing high-quality testing services for the State.

Each year PathWest perform more than 16 million tests – from routine to highly 
specialised tests. This testing is used to:

 inform 70 per cent of all clinical decisions and diagnose 100 per cent of cancers 

 predict susceptibility to disease

 prevent disease by identifying risk factors in patients that can be modified 

 determine patient prognosis

 identify the presence or absence of infection 

 monitor disease, identifying whether treatments are effective 

 personalise treatment to achieve the best clinical outcomes

 inform more than 11,000 criminal investigations each year.

With a team of more than 2,100 highly skilled staff, 27 medical laboratories,  
76 collection centers, one media manufacturing facility and one dedicated forensic 
biology laboratory located in Western Australia. PathWest is well placed to respond 
to the needs of its customers across the State including clinicians, WA Police Force 
(WAPF), State Coroner, WA justice system and other commercial clients. 
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Year in review
Anatomical Pathology 
Using cutting edge technology, the Anatomical Pathology (AP) discipline provides 
a comprehensive diagnostic and clinical service in the fields of histopathology, 
cytology, immunohistochemistry, electron microscopy, molecular pathology, 
non-coronial post-mortem examination and frozen section service.

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 The discipline was successful in receiving $19 million Community Health 
and Hospital Program (CHHP) federal funding for its translational precision 
health study project, to expand Statewide comprehensive genomic testing 
and expedite excellence in treatment of Western Australian cancer patients 
(see page 44).

 Expanded parallel sequencing on cancer tissue specimens using a large 
pan-cancer DNA and ribonucleic acid (RNA) panel to determine cancer 
patient eligibility for the Molecular Screening and Therapeutics clinical trial, 
with more than 200 cases analysed to date. 

 Molecular AP was selected to be the testing facility for patients enrolled in 
the Low and Intermediate Grade Glioma Umbrella Study of Molecular 
Guided Therapies, and for the Australian Genome Cancer Medicine 
Program managed by the Garvan Institute, NSW. The program has allowed 
molecular AP to work closely with Australia’s eight major cancer centres, 
and to secure $3.6 million funding to perform comprehensive genomic 
profiling and match patients to WA clinical trials.

 AP hosted the surgical pathology conference on ‘New and Evolving 
Concepts in Surgical Pathology’, supported by colleagues from the MD 
Anderson Cancer Centre (Texas, USA) and The Royal Prince Alfred 
Hospital (NSW).
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Biochemistry
The Biochemistry discipline performs an extensive range of routine and specialised 
biochemical tests. Using high throughput technology combined with rapid analysis, 
PathWest ensures fast turnaround times for reporting of major biochemical 
analytes, crucial for rapid diagnosis and efficient patient management. 

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Over the last 10 years, Cardiovascular Genetics within Biochemistry has 
become a leading Australian laboratory in testing for familial 
hypercholesterolaemia which affects the way the body processes 
cholesterol. In 2019/20, the team provided vital evidence to support the 
introduction of two new Medicare items to allow genetic testing of patients 
with suspected familial hypercholesterolaemia. 

 Acquired a PlasmaQuant ICPMS analyser, as part of its role as the only 
local clinical trace and toxic elements service provider within WA – an 
essential service for workers in the mining industry, ensuring compliance 
with relevant occupational health and safety legislation and guidelines 
(see page 45). 

 The discipline commenced reporting Azathioprine metabolites, providing 
improved turnaround times and reduced cost. This test completes the  
full range of testing, including genotype and phenotype tests, for 
immunosuppressed patients. 

Diagnostic Genomics
Using advanced techniques, the Diagnostic Genomics discipline provides a 
comprehensive service in the rapidly expanding field of genetic testing. The 
discipline performs medical genomic tests ranging from identifying disease,  
causing changes in single genes, to whole chromosome aneuploidy.

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Whole Exome Sequencing is being established for clinical use as a result 
of funding being made available through the Medicare schedule in 
2019/20. This is a major development in genomics (see page 39).

 Evaluating a new way of testing the Rhesus blood group of a fetus 
non-invasively using new genetic technologies.

 Continued involvement in Mackenzie’s Mission, screening for genetic 
diseases in a couple prior to pregnancy to prevent babies being born with 
rare and severe genetic diseases that will result in death at a young age.

 The discipline has been integral in the planning for a centralised Biobank 
for WA (see page 43).

13

PATHWEST  |  ANNUAL REPORT |  2019/20CONTENTS KPIS SIGNIFICANT ISSUESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY DISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCEAGENCY PERFORMANCE APPENDICESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY

13



Forensic Biology
PathWest operate the sole forensic biology laboratory in WA, performing forensic DNA 
analysis and reporting services to support the WAPF and the WA justice system. 

\

Forensic Pathology
The Forensic Pathology department and State Mortuary facility provide a 
comprehensive Coronial post-mortem service for WA under the direction of the 
State Coroner. 

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Operational demands throughout the year combined with the COVID-19 
pandemic resulted in a 10 per cent increase in case numbers. 

 Senior staff played an important role in providing forensic evidence for the 
WA Department of Public Prosecutions in the State of Western Australia v 
Bradley Robert Edwards, with several staff (past and present) giving 
evidence during the trial.

 A Bereavement Liaison Officer was appointed to ensure continuity of a 
high quality and contemporary bereavement service. This service now 
provides a single and professional point of contact and support for 
bereaved community members visiting the State Mortuary. 

 PathWest received $7.5 million funding to undertake a major upgrade of 
the State Mortuary (see page 37).

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Forensic Biology relocated to new premises in late 2018/19, becoming fully 
operational in early 2019/20. The new facility includes dedicated cold case 
examination rooms, research and development facilities and three video 
conference rooms for the provision of expert evidence by video link. It also 
incorporates capacity to increase testing and space to implement critical 
new technologies that will benefit WAPF criminal investigations.

 A significant focus was preparations for the trial of the State of Western 
Australia vs Bradley Robert Edwards. Eight staff members (including one 
retired staff member) gave evidence for more than 15 days during the trial.

 Work commenced to replace liquid handling platforms, used for the 
extraction and preparation of samples for forensic DNA profiling.  
New platforms will give the department greater capacity to perform  
DNA analysis. 
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Haematology
The Haematology discipline provides a wide range of routine and specialised 
testing services to aid in the diagnosis and treatment of a wide variety of blood 
disorders. In addition to diagnostic testing is the provision of therapeutic products 
including blood, plasma, platelets, clotting factors and bone marrow.

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 PathWest haematology services played a crucial role in the introduction of 
CAR-T cell therapy in WA – a new form of immunotherapy to treat types 
of blood cancers (see page 38). 

 The molecular laboratories at QEII Medical Centre (QEII) and  
Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) collaborated in the establishment of  
Next Generation Sequencing analysis of haematologic malignancies.  
This work will benefit the diagnosis and management of leukemia, 
specifically with targeted therapy for specific cells, understanding the 
molecular origins of the disease and a more precise measurement of 
disease burden.

 Blood film imaging has moved into the digital age with acquisition of the 
Cellavision platform at QEII and FSH – enabling digitisation of blood 
slides. While commissioning is still underway, this technology will  
enhance PathWest’s ability to support regional patients by providing 
greater diagnostic expertise to regional laboratories from a distance  
(see page 23).

 A blood management tool has been developed to assist WA hospitals 
better manage blood inventory and meet Australian Council on  
Healthcare Standards National Safety (ACHS) and Quality Health Service 
Standard 7 - Blood.

Immunology
The Immunology discipline provides a range of services that assist in the diagnosis, 
monitoring and treatment of immunological disorders and conditions relating to 
autoimmunity, allergy, immunodeficiency, transplantation and Human 
Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV).   

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 The discipline developed a world first rapid high-resolution human 
leukocyte antigen (HLA) typing method, previously known as tissue 
matching, that helps determine an exact match between a donor and 
patient. This process allows highly sensitised patients to be considered for 
a transplant, rather than being ruled out automatically, because it provides 
the transplant team with access to more information from the donor cells 
(see page 40). 

 Acquisition of a benchtop flow cytometer and automation for 
immunofluorescence, enhancing efficiency in the transplant immunology 
and autoimmunity areas. 

 Working collaboratively with Microbiology FSH, the HIV Viral Load test 
was transferred to a shared platform, with increased efficiency, and 
reduced cost and turnaround times.

 At QEII, an extended B cell panel by flow cytometry was developed to aid 
in the stratification of COVID-19 patients. 

 Development of two new functional assays – Natural Killer cell 
degranulation and Toll Like Receptor shedding. 

 On-going development of the anti-Granulocyte-macrophage colony-
stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and Interferon Gamma antibody assays for 
detection of and functional inhibition of cytokine activity. Specific IgG to 
Aspergillus and Avian antibodies for use in various lung and 
gastrointestinal disorders have also been added to the repertoire. 
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Microbiology 
The Microbiology discipline offers a comprehensive range of specialised services for 
the detection of all major disease-causing micro-organisms including bacteria, fungi, 
viruses, protozoa and helminths (worms).

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Offering a full range of COVID-19 laboratory tests to facilitate the  
WA Health pandemic response with diagnostic polymerase chain 
reaction (PCR), serology and whole genome sequencing (see page 32).  

 Facilitated the provision of rapid COVID-19 PCR testing into the regional 
laboratory network.  

 FSH continued to provide a 24-hour service to process urgent specimens 
including positive blood cultures and rapid molecular diagnostics. Their 
work enables the laboratory to rapidly turnaround results which means 
potentially life-saving antibiotics can be prescribed to patients much faster 
than a regular service from a daytime only laboratory.

 Dr Tim Inglis, QEII Microbiology won the Jill Porteous Memorial Award at 
the WA Heath Excellence Awards. Microbiology at FSH was also a  
finalist in the category of Improving Patient Safety and Quality for a project 
on improving the diagnosis and management of patients with sepsis  
(see page 41). 

 Regional microbiology continued to be consolidated with the transfer of 
bacteriology testing from Northam and Collie laboratories to QEII 
Microbiology.

 High throughput serology testing for blood borne viruses has transitioned to 
the core laboratory at QEII which will allow 24-hour testing and further 
efficiencies. 
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Pre-Analytical Services 
Pre-Analytical Services include specimen collection, reception and processing, and 
transportation and is integral to Statewide pathology operations.

Regional Support Services
PathWest provide services to communities all over WA, from Kununurra in the 
north to Esperance in the south and every community in between. The specimen 
collection and laboratory testing services provided by the regional support services 
(RSS) network are comprehensive and broad.

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Busselton and Bentley laboratories were the first locations to roll out the 
new LIS. Information technology hardware such as computers, scanners, 
bar code readers and hand-held devices were upgraded in these 
laboratories. 

 During the COVID-19 pandemic eight laboratories took delivery of the 
GeneXpert© DNA analysers enabling on-site COVID-19 testing in regional 
WA, negating the requirement to send urgent samples from high risk 
patients to Perth for testing. 

 The three 24-hour laboratories (Armadale, Bunbury and Rockingham) 
replaced their aging biochemistry analysers with state of the art Vitros 
7600XT. These new analysers detect and quantify clinically significant 
chemicals in the plasma of patients with faster turn around times than 
previously possible.

  Key 2019/20 achievements

 Pre-Analytical services has provided a frontline and behind the scenes 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic staffing a dedicated domiciliary 
specimen collection service, command centre and providing increased 
support via Central Specimen Reception Area and courier services.

 Opened  a new collection centre in West Leederville, servicing the central 
and western suburbs.

 Undertook an upgrade to the Call Centre, providing a more fit-for-purpose 
work environment. PathWest’s call centre received more than 5,000 extra 
calls in March 2020 due to COVID-19 and patients/doctors requesting 
results. 

 Phlebotomists began using electronic hand-held devices on ward rounds 
to replace hard copy request forms, as part of the LIS roll-out.

 The courier service expanded to include a daily Northam run to improve 
specimen quality and accommodate COVID-19 clinic specimens.

 To support cancer patients during the peak COVID-19 months in WA, 
Pre-Analytical Services established two temporary collection points in the 
FSH and Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital (SCGH) Cancer Centres.

 As a result of COVID-19, the non-COVID domiciliary service also saw a 
37 per cent increase in activity, with many patients opting to have tests in 
their homes rather than visit a collection centre.

Derby Jetty – Provided by Mark Steicke,  
Medical Scientist in Charge, Derby
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Year at a glance

133,820
GUTHRIE TESTS   
performed on newborns

21,743
TRACE METAL TESTS   
were performed 

2,300 
POST-MORTEMS 

50 of which were homicide related

16,686,984
LABORATORY TESTS 
were performed (excluding 
Forensic Biology)

6,223,510
RECORDS 
uploaded to My Health Record

5,159
DOMICILIARY VISITS 
(excluding COVID-19)

2,797,926
TESTS PERFORMED  
for regional WA

700
AVERAGE DAILY 
CALLS TO 13 PATH

11.9 YEARS
AVERAGE LENGTH OF SERVICE 
at PathWest

54 YEARS
LONGEST SERVICE STAFF MEMBER

17
CHILDHOOD LEUKEMIA  
diagnosed

900,000km
WERE TRAVELLED BY
COURIERS PER YEAR 
to collect samples

103,018
COVID-19 TESTS
 were performed

LIFE-SAVING ORGAN AND  
TISSUE MATCHES

21
32

104 kidneys

6 hearts

15 livers 12 lungs 0-10 years  47%

10-20 years 34%

20-30 years 15%

30-40 years 2%
40+ years 1%

STAFF SERVICE PROFILE

Related adult bone marrow 
transplants
Unrelated adult bone marrow 
transplants
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Our team
PathWest employ 2,149 dedicated staff, committed to providing world-leading 
pathology and forensic services for patients and clients across Western Australia, 
as well as nationally and internationally.

Pathologists
Pathologists are medical doctors with at least 13 years of training, specialising in 
the study of the nature and causes of diseases, and are certified through the Royal 
College of Pathologists Australasia (RCPA). 

PathWest employ more than 150 consultant pathologists across all disciplines, 
excluding Forensic Biology. Many PathWest pathologists work in both a laboratory 
and clinical setting, playing an integral role in the treatment of patients both at the 
benchtop and the bedside, and play a primary role in medical research activities.

One in two Australians had a pathology test last year, however the majority would 
be unaware of the pathologist’s vital role in their diagnosis and treatment. 
Pathologists are responsible for providing diagnosis based on validated test results 
and ensuring general practitioners, specialists and hospital clinicians have access 
to critical information to correctly treat their patients.

Without pathology, there would be no healthcare.

Medical scientists
Medical scientists make up the greatest cohort of staff at PathWest. They hold a 
tertiary qualification (Medical Science or Laboratory Medicine) and professional 
membership to the Australian Institute of Medical Scientists (AIMS), a professional 
association representing medical scientists from all pathology disciplines. 
Much like pathologists, medical scientists often specialise in a particular discipline, and 
are required to use cutting-edge technology to perform a broad range of tests, as well 
as conduct manual testing using chemicals and viewing cells under a microscope.
Medical scientists are the backbone of the laboratory, providing information for 
diagnosing, treating and preventing disease.

Technical staff
Technical and laboratory assistant staff also make up a significant portion of the 
PathWest workforce. The roles and responsibilities of laboratory assistants and 
technical staff can include specimen collection, specimen sorting and registration, 
sample processing, maintaining, calibrating and operating laboratory equipment 
and performing pathology tests. Laboratory assistants and technical staff play a 
vital role in the successful operation of the laboratory.

Phlebotomist/Specimen collector
PathWest is committed to providing excellence and innovation in frontline services 
and employ more than 120 phlebotomists/specimen collectors in hospitals, 
laboratories, collection centres and domiciliary services across WA.   
PathWest phlebotomists or specimen collectors are customer focussed  
and committed to providing the best experience for all who use  
the service. 

Scientist  41.13%

Technical  31.64% Administration  11.69%

Phlebotomy  5.73% 

Pathologist  5.4%
Registrar  2.37% 
IT  1.94% 
Anthropologist  0.06%
Nursing  0.02% 
Odontologist  0.01%
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Our locations

  Lab Hubs         Branch Labs         Collection Centres     *Bubble size relative to activity levels

9
Metropolitan 
laboratories

24
Metropolitan 

collection 
centres

18
Regional 

laboratories

51
Regional 
collection 

centres

1
Forensic 
biology 

laboratory

1
Media 

manufacturing 
facility
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Typical test journey

DOCTOR REQUESTS TEST SPECIMEN COLLECTED

SPECIMEN RECEIVED BY DISCIPLINESPECIMEN ANALYSED

RESULTS 
INTERPRETED 

AND 
REPORTED

RESULTS 
SENT TO 
DOCTOR

TRANSPORTED 
TO THE 

LABORATORY

REGISTERED  
AND 

PROCESSED 
BY 

SPECIMEN 
RECEPTION

  MICROBIOLOGY   IMMUNOLOGY

  ANATOMICAL
  PATHOLOGY

  FORENSIC
  PATHOLOGY

BIOCHEMISTRY

GENOMICS

HAEMATOLOGY

PATHWEST

PATHWEST

PATIENT

PATHOLOGY 
REQUEST

PATHOLOGY 
RESULTS

PATHOLOGY 

RESULTS
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Vision, mission and core values

MISSION
Across our services, we are committed to providing excellence and 
innovation in pathology, testing, teaching and research; positively 
contributing to the health and wellbeing of the community.

CORE VALUES
Excellence in everything we do
Respect for ourselves and others
Professionalism at all times
Commitment to all our staff and community

VISION
To be the pathology and testing service of choice. Testing for today, teaching for tomorrow.

Strategic  
themes  

and actions
To support PathWest’s direction throughout 2019/20, 

five strategic themes were focussed on:

Innovation 
and service 

development

Research Operational 
excellence

Staff 
development

Customer 
experience

To complement the strategic themes, and in line with the vision, mission and core values, 
PathWest commenced the implementation of five lead strategic actions including:

  Successful implementation and ‘go-live’ of the new LIS
  Building unity, a sense of belonging and shared purpose across the organisation
  Engaging with key stakeholders to develop a strong, sustainable business
  Establishing a robust and transparent financial model
  Clearly defining governance structures and accountabilities.

In consultation with the Executive team and key senior staff, the new PathWest Board will develop the 
future strategic direction of PathWest upon their commencement.
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Research and innovation funds

Research and innovation are fundamental to the current and future success of 
PathWest, underpinning evidence-based practice and positively contributing to 
continuous improvements in benchtop to bedside care.

In 2019/20, PathWest introduced two funds dedicated to strengthening its research 
and innovation capability.

 PathWest Research Fund – $50,000 was allocated to each discipline to be 
used for small research projects. Funds are targeted at research work requiring 
consumables or materials expense. 

 PathWest Innovation Fund – $100,000 was allocated to support projects 
seeking to introduce new and innovative practices at PathWest. Applications 
were assessed and selected by the PathWest Executive Committee. In 2019/20 
$91,154 was awarded across six projects.

Project 1

Automation and digital imagery of haematology blood cell morphology

Using cutting edge digital imagery, the Haematology departments at FSH and 
QEII will further expand CellaVision DC1 technology to enable cell 
identification from anywhere across the State.

The technology allows for the digitisation of blood films at regional sites, 
allowing them to be reviewed remotely leading to significantly improved 
turnaround times by removing the need for physical slides to be transported 
across the State.

The project is ongoing, and funding will be used to purchase remote review 
station licenses to allow for the remote use of the technology, as well as 
additional hours for one staff member to collate and write up results.
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Project 2 Project 3

High resolution HLA typing on Flongle MinION sequencing platform  
for deceased organ donation

Clinical Immunology provides HLA typing and transplant related donor/recipient 
matching for WA patients awaiting a kidney transplant.  

Matching for proteins found on cells in the donor and recipient (HLA antigens) 
are important in the success of an organ transplant. The better HLA match, the 
better the survival outcome of the patient. 

A PathWest study, further outlined on page 39, developed a world-first rapid 
HLA typing method that provides equivalent typing resolution to that of the 
patient. 

A novel single molecule sequencing platform, known as Oxford Nanopore 
Flongle MinION, was used to sequence these HLA genes. Results showed 
that HLA typing of 11 genes important in organ transplant at typing resolution 
comparable to that obtained for the patient is possible with a turnaround time 
of approximately four hours without delay to organ allocation. 

This technology is currently also being validated for implementation of high 
resolution typing for haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for the cure of 
malignant and non-malignant disease. This project was partly funded by the 
PathWest Innovation Fund.

Developing analytical methodology to determine whether the ‘opioid 
crisis’ experienced in other parts of the world is affecting WA

Run by the Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology laboratory, the project 
focusses on monitoring fentanyl and other synthetic opioids in an at-risk 
population within the WA community.  

The project aims to clarify whether international trends towards misuse of 
synthetic opioids, or harms related to highly toxic opioids adulterating other 
drugs, are applicable in WA.  

Expected outcomes include development of an expanded analytical testing 
service that PathWest can implement on a routine basis, as well as the 
development of data to help WA policy makers to respond to health risks 
associated with synthetic opioids.  

During 2019/20 the project team progressed various PathWest and WA Health 
ethics and governance approvals, and it is expected that awarded funding will 
be accessed for practical laboratory work at the end of 2020.       
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Project 5

Project 4 Project 6

 Automated ESR Reader Rollout project

In 2019/20, PathWest changed from Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate (ESR) 
blood collection tubes to a new smaller Excyte ESR tubes, with patients 
required to provide less blood during collection. 

Due to the size, regional laboratories that previously read the ESR by visual 
inspection could no longer do so. 

Innovation funding was used to purchase 10 ESR readers to be deployed to 
regional WA to automate the tube reading process, which will lead to more 
accurate results and minimise test repeats due to insufficient specimen 
collected.

A single point calibration method applied in defined linear response 
region for liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) 
based tests

Conventional calibration methods used for LC-MS/MS analysis often requires 
multi-level calibration standards to be measured prior to the analysis of patient 
samples - such practice can be costly and time-consuming. The single point 
calibration method can reduce the cost of running LC-MS/MS based tests due 
to a reduction in materials and labour.

It can also provide the same level of accuracy as multipoint calibration 
because LC-MS/MS has an intrinsic linear response range.  A comparison 
study has been carried out for more than 350 patients and the results have 
shown an excellent correlation between the two methods.

Introduction of real-time Global Positioning System (GPS) tracking 
into the PathWest courier fleet 

Consistent with contemporary practice, PathWest’s courier fleet will be fitted 
with GPS 4G telematics devices and mobile data terminals, allowing vehicle 
management software to be installed and programmed with courier run 
information.

PathWest administrators 
will use a web-based 
communication system to 
track fleet activities, 
monitor performance and 
schedules, as well as 
allow dispatch of ad-hoc 
pickups to selected 
vehicles/courier runs.

Web-based reporting will 
provide data that can be 
used to direct the most 
efficient use of a small 
courier fleet and negate a 
current single point 
dependency and use of 
manual, paper-based 
systems.

The GPS system will be 
rolled out by the end of 
2020.
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PathWest promote an environment dedicated to teaching and training, offering 
various programs to ensure the highest level of skills, competence and knowledge 
in its current and future workforce.

Pathology registrar training
As part of PathWest’s commitment to educating and training the pathologists of the 
future, 54 registrars were part of the 2019/20 pathology registrar training program. 
Registrars are provided five years apprenticeship style training from highly 
experienced consultants, preparing them for a career in their chosen discipline. 

This advanced training leads to certification as a qualified pathologist and  
membership as a Fellow of the RCPA.

Discipline 2019/20

Anatomical Pathology 27

Biochemistry 3

Diagnostic Genomics 2

Haematology 11

Immunology 5

Microbiology 6

Professional placements
PathWest is committed to supporting AIMS accredited university programs to 
ensure there is a highly skilled pool of graduates.

In 2019/20, PathWest provided seven-week placements to 93 Curtin University 
students, 9 Murdoch University students and 14 University of Western Australia 
(UWA) students.

Certificate III in Pathology Collection 
In 2019/20, PathWest awarded four scholarships. Graduates are offered a  
three-month fixed term contract at PathWest.

The accredited program was introduced in May 2014 and has since produced  
186 graduates with a Certificate III qualification, many of whom continue to work 
with PathWest.

Teaching and training
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Aboriginal scholarships
PathWest is dedicated to increasing Aboriginal employment within its workforce, 
particularly in frontline services.

In March 2016, PathWest introduced an Aboriginal scholarship program which 
offers four scholarships annually, allowing successful applicants to complete the 
six-week Certificate III in Pathology Collection course.  All course fees and 
associated costs (including workbooks, textbooks and vaccinations) are included in 
the scholarship program.

In 2019/20, PathWest awarded four scholarships. All graduates are offered a 
three-month fixed term contract at PathWest.

In total, 16 scholarships have been awarded and six graduates remain valued 
PathWest employees.

Aboriginal cadetship
In 2019/20 PathWest participated in the WA Health Aboriginal Cadetship Program, 
offering placements to Aboriginal students who are enrolled in full-time university 
across various areas of study.   

The program aims to provide Aboriginal students with 11 months’ paid work 
experience and further employment opportunities. 

PathWest appointed two cadets to positions in Immunology at FSH and QEII.

COVID-19 training 
To ensure COVID-19 samples were collected correctly and met all laboratory 
requirements, PathWest phlebotomy staff trained more than 100 Royal Perth 
Hospital (RPH) COVID Clinic nurses and doctors, Silver Chain nurses, Mediserve 
nurses, NurseWest nurses and St John Ambulance staff.

Forensic training
As part of PathWest’s partnership with the WAPF, formal teaching and training was 
provided to police officers to ensure they have knowledge about the latest forensic 
techniques and theory.

Topics included Forensic Biology overview, DNA for the investigation of sexual 
assaults, introduction to DNA and forensic DNA profiling, the use of forensic DNA 
profiling for disaster victim identification, and exhibit sampling and evidence 
recovery.

Lectures on similar topics were also provided to the Office of the Director of  
Public Prosecutions and a number of universities. 
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PathWest employs a three line of defence model to effectively manage and govern 
risk throughout the organisation. 

1. First line of defence – policies and procedures and line management 
processes.

2. Second line of defence – functions that oversee or specialise in risk 
management and compliance eg. finance, security, quality assurance.

3. Third line of defence – functions that provide independent assurance, 
including internal audit.

PathWest is committed to identifying, assessing, controlling and monitoring all risks 
associated with its activities at the strategic, operational and project level.

Bi-monthly Risk and Audit Committee meetings ensure the progress of risk 
mitigation strategies are actively monitored, and provide critical oversight of the 
internal audit function.

Risk
In 2019/20, PathWest undertook a series of workshops to review and redefine 
operational risks and identify any treatment action plans required to reduce their 
risks.

The Executive team reviewed the PathWest Strategic Risk Register to ensure it is 
fit-for-purpose and relfects contemporary public pathology issues in the WA context.

The Enterprise Risk Management System was also commissioned to host both 
strategic and operational risks as a whole-of-agency risk management tool.

Audit
As a statutory authority, PathWest is now required to comply with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and Treasurers Instructions. Treasurers Instruction 1201: 
Internal Audit requires PathWest to establish a risk-based internal audit function.  
To help meet these requirements, PathWest appointed a permanent Audit Manager. 

During 2019/20, PathWest developed its inaugural three-year rolling Strategic 
Internal Audit Plan 2019 - 2022 as well as its Annual Internal 2019/20Audit Plan. 

Consulting firm PwC was contracted as PathWest’s contract internal audit provider 
in early 2020, establishing a co-sourced model for the delivery of its 2019/20 
Annual Internal Audit Plan. 

Six internal audits were completed and reported to the Risk and  
Audit Committee, with all recommendations made during the  
2019/20 period implemented and closed off prior to 30 June 2020. 

Audit and risk management
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PathWest encourages feedback from patients, clients and customers through a 
variety of mechanisms to continuously improve its service. Feedback channels 
include:

 In person at collection centres, which is referred to supervisors and  
managers for resolution.

 Anonymous website feedback via the ‘Contact Us’ webpage or  
‘Care Opinion’ link.

 13 PATH (7284) telephone line.

PathWest is committed to:

 Acknowledge feedback within five working days of receipt.

 Assess and investigate all issues raised.

 Keep patients, clients and customers informed of the resolution process.

 Provide a final response within 30 days of receipt, in cases where  
contact details are provided.

Patient and customer feedback

 This morning I visited PathWest for a Metabolic Bone Study test.   
I would like to compliment my “nurse” on her kindness, care and efficiency.  
Thank you.

 The phlebotomists have been absolutely terrific.  Their competence and 
professionalism is the best I have experienced. Your entire PathWest 
operation is the best I have experienced.

 I have been coming to Armadale Hospital to have my bloods taken regularly 
after having a diagnosis and chemo treatment twice for ovarian cancer.  At all 
times everyone I have seen have been friendly and professional.  It makes 
such a difference because I am 63 years old and quite anxious at this time.  
Please provide this feedback to everyone there.  They are always busy but 
take time to make me feel safe.  Thank you.

 Excellent, sweet and caring.

Some examples of feedback received:
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A clinical incident is an event resulting from the provision of health care that could 
have, or did, lead to the unintended harm of a patient.  PathWest actively 
encourages all staff to report clinical incidents.  The process of investigating 
incidents is undertaken consistent with the WA Clinical Incident Management Policy 
and the WA Open Disclosure Policy and is fundamental in the prevention of future 
harm to patients.

During the year, all reported clinical incidents were investigated and, where 
appropriate, recommendations implemented to improve patient safety.

Clinical incidents resulting in serious harm to a patient are assigned a Severity 
Assessment Code (SAC) rating of SAC1.  There were no SAC1 clinical incidents 
reported by PathWest in 2019/20.

PathWest continues to aim for zero harm for every patient, every time.

PathWest services in medical, forensic and biological testing continue to hold 
accreditation based on international and national standards for testing laboratories.  
All PathWest medical testing laboratories are accredited by the National 
Association of Testing Authorities (NATA) to the Australian and International 
Standard AS ISO 15189-2013: Medical laboratories – Requirements for quality and 
competence and supporting requirements outlined by the National Pathology 
Accreditation Advisory Council.

A significant recent change to the laboratory accreditation standards was the 
introduction of new requirements related to the clinical governance of medical 
laboratories and an associated change to the legislative principles regarding 
accreditation.

In response to the closure of domestic borders due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
NATA is undertaking accreditation activities via remote assessment methodologies 
to ensure continued oversight of laboratory practices while on site visits cannot 
occur.

As well as medical testing laboratories, PathWest operates a forensic testing 
laboratory and two biological testing laboratories.  These three facilities are 
accredited by NATA to AS ISO/IEC 17025: 2018: General requirements for the 
competence of testing and calibration laboratories.  This follows a three-year cycle 
of assessment that includes external audit activities.

NATA also assess the toxicology laboratory and supporting collection services to 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 4308:2008 Procedures for Specimen Collection and 
the Detection and Quantitation of Drugs of Abuse in Urine.

Learning from clinical incidents Accreditation

Some PathWest staff are NATA accredited assessors, 
performing external assessments at non-PathWest  
laboratories on a regular basis in WA and interstate.
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PathWest’s response to COVID-19
The outbreak of COVID-19 created an unprecedented global health crisis, having a 
significant impact on the Australian health care system. At PathWest, the impact was 
felt almost immediately and the ability to be flexible and reactive to the ever-changing 
environment ensured a timely and effective response to the pandemic.

Despite facing significant challenges such as testing demand, global shortages of 
supplies and adjusting to physical distancing requirements, PathWest completed 
more than 103,000 tests from February to June. Throughout this time, PathWest 
maintained a 24-hour turn-around-time – ensuring the people of WA had access to 
their test results as quickly as possible.

The demand on PathWest services continuously evolved with changes to the 
testing criteria. Early on, PathWest was the sole pathology provider for COVID-19 
testing in Western Australia, with symptomatic people required to attend dedicated 
public COVID clinics. As criteria broadened and restrictions relaxed, private 
pathology providers began sharing the workload and increasing the Statewide 
capacity to respond to the expanded testing regime.

In addition to its in-house PCR test, and in response to rising case number and in 
preparation for a potential outbreak, PathWest expanded testing capability by 
utilising a range of analysing platforms and securing compatible test kits, reagents 
and consumables. Additional analysers were purchased to ensure PathWest was 
able to increase testing efforts. 

PathWest continues to play an integral role in the State’s response to COVID-19 
and is preparing for future surges our State may experience. 

Pathology is often the unseen part of the health system, but it’s 
played such a crucial role in helping to manage this pandemic. 
From our team of sample collectors to our brilliant scientists and 
clinicians we have really stepped forward and delivered.

– Joe Boyle, PathWest Chief Executive

Performance highlights
PathWest phlebotomists collected more 
than 5,000 COVID-19 specimens  
from March to June 2020
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Developing a test
PathWest has been at the forefront of testing since the first case of COVID-19 was 
recognised in Australia, designing an in-house COVID-19 PCR test for WA just 
days after the first genomes for the virus became available, and long before 
commercial tests were on the market. This enabled PathWest to begin testing at 
the earliest possible stage, contributing to the strong outcomes achieved by WA. 

Regional testing roll-out
Testing in regional WA formed an essential 
part of PathWest’s response to COVID-19. 
The roll-out of eight rapid testing machines 
across regional and remote WA was 
expedited to alleviate the challenges of 
transporting specimens to Perth for urgent 
testing. This will contribute to a long-term 
benefit for regional Western Australia, with 
local laboratories now able to conduct 
rapid testing for some hospital acquired 
infections and influenza without the need 
to send to specimens Perth. Six additional 
machines will be rolled out in 2020/21.

Supporting public health efforts 
PathWest played a crucial role in advising public health, hospital and Government 
officials on infection control measures, as well as leading the State’s response from 
a testing perspective. This has continued as the pandemic has developed, with 
PathWest’s expert microbiologists providing invaluable expertise in translating an 
understanding of the virus from the laboratory into helping formulate detailed 
policies to limit the spread of the virus.

In supporting public health efforts, PathWest has provided: 

 Individual case public health notification with full patient and collection details of 
positive COVID-19 PCR and serology results.

 Automated public health downloads of positive and negative COVID-19 PCR 
and serology results.

 Aggregated daily reporting of hotel and airport testing data to the State Health 
Incident Command Centre (SCHICC), public health, and the Schools DETECT 
COVID-19 PCR results to Telethon Kids Institute..

 Providing the Minister for Health, Director General, SHICC and the Public Health 
Emergency Operation Centre with regular updates and advice regarding 
specimen collection and testing.

33

PATHWEST  |  ANNUAL REPORT |  2019/20CONTENTS KPIS SIGNIFICANT ISSUESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY DISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCEAGENCY PERFORMANCE APPENDICESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY



Providing patient care at home
Due to COVID-19, some PathWest services were required to adapt to meet patient 
needs, providing greater care at home, rather than in hospital or in a collection centre.

 Non-COVID domiciliary services increased by 37 per cent, to allow patients who 
required blood/specimen collection to do so in their own home.

 More than 30 immunocompromised patients throughout WA were able to access 
home-based haematology service. The service was set up in record time and 
allowed patients to self-administer a weekly subcutaneous immunoglobulin 
injection at home, rather than undergo a monthly intravenous infusion in hospital.

PathWest staff have gone above and beyond. This fantastic 
service is flexible and saves me the time I spent making monthly 
visits to hospital for the infusions. – Patient

On the frontline 
PathWest has operated a dedicated COVID-19 specimen collection service, with a 
team of phlebotomists forming an integral part of the frontline health workforce. This 
service includes providing specimen collection on international cruise and cargo 
ships for passengers and crew, as well as visiting schools, nursing homes, hotels 
and private homes to test people for COVID-19. 

Assisting in research
PathWest is involved in COVID-19 related research projects including the DETECT 
study – testing students and staff in selected WA schools DETECT Snapshot – 
testing asymptomatic members of the community, as well as a number of national 
and local clinical trials.

PathWest is also involved in a number of large-scale COVID-19 research studies 
including:

 National serosurveillance program for vaccine preventable diseases.

 Diagnostic test selection using PathWest laboratory data during COVID-19.

 Pharmacokinetic evaluation of Novel Agents in COVID-19 induced exaggerated 
inflammation. 

 Is serum angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 a risk marker for SARS-CoV2 
infectivity or disease severity?

 World Health Organisation Clinical Characterisation Protocol for Severe 
Emerging Infections. 

 Australasian COVID-19 Trial. 

 BRACE trial – trialing the Bacillus Calmette–Guérin (tuberculosis) vaccination to 
reduce the impact of COVID-19 in Australian healthcare workers. 

 Australian Cardiovascular COVID-19 Database.

 Plus, several other projects supported by the Pathwest Clinical Trials 
Management Unit.
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Answering the call for help
In April 2020, PathWest answered a call for help from one of New York City’s 
largest COVID-19 testing laboratories at the Mailman School of Public Health, 
Columbia Public Health.

Supplies of Virus Transport Medium (VTM), which is critical for the preservation of 
viruses such as COVID-19 during collection, transport, analysis and storage, 
became increasingly difficult to obtain due to the global pandemic.

Highly skilled scientists and technicians from PathWest’s Media Manufacturing 
Facility worked around the clock to produce enough VTM supply to enable more 
than 10,000 COVID-19 tests to be performed.

Getting WA back on track
 As restrictions eased in WA and aquatic centres, spas and strata pools  

re-opened across the State, PathWest scientists worked tirelessly to ensure 
people could swim safely. The PathWest Water Testing Laboratory, responsible 
for testing water of all types across WA and beyond, saw requests for pool 
water testing increase by more than 1,000 per cent from April to June 2020.

 Less than three months after non-urgent elective surgery was suspended to 
enable the WA Health System to prepare for the impact of COVID-19, activity 
returned to normal. This led to increased general pathology testing across all 
disciplines, in addition to the growing number of COVID-19 tests being 
performed. 
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New Chief Pathologist
Leading Microbiologist Professor Miles Beaman commenced in the role of  
Chief Pathologist for PathWest in June 2020. An essential part of the PathWest 
Executive team, the Chief Pathologist is instrumental to the ongoing success of 
PathWest. Professor Beaman will provide expert advice and support to the 
executive leadership team, overseeing clinical governance and helping to transform 
services across all pathology disciplines. 

In an important leadership position for PathWest and the State, Professor Beaman 
will help drive innovation and research, while being an advocate for pathology and 
medical science within the greater health service community.

The role will also provide a strategic focus and enable improved advocacy and 
outcomes for PathWest. increasing quality assurance in the laboratories, improving 
research performance and introducing new technologies to the organisation.

“All Departments contribute to our world-standard service, but our 
role in the COVID-19 crisis has underlined the fact that PathWest 
saves lives and prevents disease.” 

– Professor Miles Beaman, Chief Pathologist

Thank you Dr Dominic Mallon
Dr Dominic Mallon was the first Chief Pathologist for PathWest, a role he held 
for 10 years before stepping down in 2020. He helped shine a spotlight on 
pathology – one of the most integral, and often overlooked, facets of the 
health system. PathWest was fortunate to have Dominic’s strong leadership 
skills guiding the organisation in clinical and scientific governance, and 
spearheading quality improvement initiatives.
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State Mortuary
State Mortuary upgrade
PathWest Forensic Pathology operates the State Mortuary and is the sole forensic 
pathology service in the State.
Each year, the State Mortuary performs a pivotal role into the investigation of more than 
2,300 unexpected and/or unexplained deaths. This role is essential to work carried out 
by the wider WA health system, the WAPF, the State Coronial system, and the WA 
Department of Justice and Office of Public Prosecutions through its criminal case work. 
In 2020, PathWest received $7.5 million funding approval to undertake a major 
upgrade of the State Mortuary, ensuring the mortuary is future-proofed to continue 
delivering high quality and efficient services across WA.
The upgrade will increase the facility’s capacity to adequately manage mass fatality 
events, such as those seen internationally with the COVID-19 crisis, and include:

 A new, larger infectious autopsy theatre with an adequately sized airlock.
 New workstations and state-of-the-art theatres.
 New audio-visual facilities complementing the roll-out of the LIS.
 A dedicated crime suite for the WAPF.

PathWest commenced detailed planning in collaboration with the Department of 
Finance’s Building Management and Works. Works are to commence in 2021 with 
completion expected in 2022.

Bereavement Officer appointed
In March 2020, Nina Reeve became the first Bereavement Officer appointed to the 
State Mortuary, providing a primary point of contact for bereaved family and friends to 
offer guidance, information and support when navigating the path following a death.
The role includes preparing and presenting the deceased and facilitating viewings, 
allowing the bereaved to spend time with the deceased during the initial stages of 
their grief journey. It also involves providing support in person, as well as via 
bereavement literature.
The role acts as a conduit to the Coroners Court, and mental health support 
networks, ensuring PathWest can better assist the community with their grief. 

Computerised tomography (CT) Scanner – one year on
The State Mortuary’s dedicated post-mortem CT scanner was officially opened by 
the Attorney General, the Honorable John Quigley MLA in June 2019. The scanner 
revolutionised the way forensic pathologists determined cause of death in Coronial 
cases, often without the requirement for invasive post-mortem procedures.

Scanning is now firmly embedded in the Coronial autopsy process, with 
experience, capacity and skill growing within the State Mortuary. The number of 
deceased people scanned has also increased, with around 97 per cent of 
admissions now examined using the cutting-edge technology.

Forensic Pathologist Dr Dan Moss said using post-mortem CT scanning, as an 
adjunct to the traditional autopsy, has many advantages for the Coronial autopsy 
service. Of particular importance is the ability to provide sufficient information to 
satisfy the Coroner’s requirements, without having to do an internal autopsy.

“This not only streamlines the process in the mortuary, enabling many cases to be 
closed more quickly, it is also of significant comfort to families of the deceased who 
may be uncomfortable with the idea of their loved ones undergoing a full post 
mortem examination,” Dr Moss said.

The CT scanner also provides enhanced images that can be displayed in Court, as 
well as a permanent reviewable 3D record of the deceased.

Scans are performed by a team of experienced CT radiographers from SCGH, and 
forensic pathologists work with consultant radiologists to review and interpret scans 
to determine cause of death or confirm further investigation requirements.

The forensic pathologists, Coroners and, most importantly, the families and friends 
of deceased people in WA have all benefited significantly from the installation and 
use of this technology.

In 2019/20, more than 2,200 
deceased people were examined 
using the CT scanner.
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CAR T-Cell therapy trial
Doctors and scientists from PathWest and FSH embarked on a ground-breaking 
trial to introduce CAR T-cell therapy as an early treatment option that could 
revolutionise the way malignant cancers are treated. 

PathWest is one of only two sites in Australia taking part in this innovative trial, that 
has previously been successful in the treatment of some blood cancers. 

The procedure involves collection of autologous T-cells from a patient, prepared 
into cell doses and cryopreserved to between -180C and -190C (see image right). 
The cryopreserved cells are then transported under strict conditions to Switzerland 
for genetic reprogramming before being returned to WA.     

The modified T-cells are infused back into the patient’s body and it is hoped they 
will seek out and destroy any cancerous cells now, and in the future. 

In April 2020, the first patient was successfully infused with their own T-cells.
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Whole exome sequencing
The Diagnostic Genomics department provides a specialist service for 
preconception, prenatal, childhood and adult genetic testing. Depending on the 
purpose of the test, genetic results may confirm a diagnosis, indicate a person is a 
carrier of a genetic mutation, or identify a person at an increased risk of developing 
a disease (such as cancer) in the future. 

Whole Exome Sequencing (WES) is a technique that identifies genetic changes in 
coding DNA and is one of the most extensive genetic tests available. Diagnostic 
Genomics has introduced this cutting-edge technology that sequences 19,352 
genes at a time, close to triple the number of genes that are sequenced by the 
current technique. 

While staff may only look at a small number of genes using specialised software to 
identify whether a mutation is causing a specific disease, this new technology 
provides far greater scope to investigate other genes if further diagnostic 
investigation is required. Patient data is stored and can be re-analysed in the future 
as more information becomes available relevant to a genetic condition.

Medicare funding for WES testing of children with abnormal facial appearance, 
intellectual disability or global developmental delay became available in May 2020, 
with the testing planned to go live in July 2020.

Research translational project 
The Research Translational Projects (RTP) program supports high quality research 
projects that have the potential to demonstrate improved cost effectiveness and/or 
efficiencies to the WA Health System while maintaining or improving patient 
outcomes. A focus of the Program is the translation of research outcomes into 
health care policy and practice in WA. 

In 2019/20, Haematology Consultant Dr Carolyn Grove was awarded RTP Program 
funding for her project Next Generation Sequencing in Chronic Lymphocytic 
Leukaemia and Acute Myeloid Leukaemia; A Health economic analysis.

Using next generation sequencing, the project aims to identify genetic mutations in 
newly diagnosed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia and Acute Myeloid Leukaemia 
patients to identify those who are unlikely to respond optimally to standard chemo-
immunotherapy. Next generation sequencing will enable analysis of the genetics at 
a molecular level prior to treatment.

The intended outcome of this analysis is to inform the business case for and 
facilitate routine implementation of next generation sequencing at diagnosis of 
haematological malignancy. This will assist with improved prognostication and 
treatment selection, which should improve outcomes for Western Australians by 
avoidance of futile therapy and associated treatment-related toxicities.
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Rapid method for deceased  
donor organ allocation
By unlocking vital information that can determine whether an organ donation will be 
successful, groundbreaking PathWest immunology research is offering hope to 
patients who face an agonising wait for an organ transplant. 

This research, led by Dr Dianne De Santis, PhD, Senior Scientist in Charge, 
Immunology, found a HLA typing method, previously known as tissue matching, 
that helps determine an exact match between a donor and patient. 

The research has uncovered a more precise way of matching specific HLA proteins 
found on the patient and donor cells which gives clinicians more information about 
the level of risk associated with a potential organ transplant. 

Approximately 30 per cent of patients on the transplant waitlist are ‘highly 
sensitised’ (that is they have antibodies that could react with the donor’s HLA 
proteins that are not matched to their own) and as a result require a transplant 
donor with perfectly matched HLA proteins. Patients previously excluded from 
transplant options are the main potential beneficiaries of this research.

PathWest can now determine the exact HLA type of a donor prior to the transplant 
occurring and therefore identify which of the patients on the transplant waitlist are 
best matched and will therefore have greatest chance of transplant success.

“Essentially we’re opening the door for these patients to be considered for a 
transplant, rather than being ruled out automatically, because we have access to 
more information from the donor cells,” Dr De Santis said. 
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Awarding greatness
WA Health Awards
PathWest Clinical Microbiologist Dr Tim Inglis was awarded the Jill Porteous 
Memorial Award at the WA Health Awards held in November 2019. 
The Jill Porteous Memorial Award recognises a WA Health System employee who 
has shown exceptional dedication to high quality, patient-centred health care in 
hospital, community or other settings.
Dr Inglis has been at the forefront of research into antimicrobial resistant sepsis and 
other emerging infectious diseases, working at the interface between clinical 
translational research and clinical care. As a recognised expert in infectious disease 
management, Dr Inglis has repeatedly investigated outbreaks in regional and 
remote WA, developing a “lab-in-a-box” approach to test for infections as diverse as 
influenza, Ross River Virus, melioidosis and the most common causes of sepsis.
Tim was joint winner with WA Country Health Service’s (WACHS) Kylie Bosich also 
being honoured with this prestigious award.
PathWest’s Microbiology team at FSH, led by Consultant Pathologist Dr Jim 
Flexman was also named among finalists in Improving Safety and Quality, for 
outstanding work improving the diagnosis and management of patients with sepsis 
through their round-the-clock laboratory.

Tim Inglis receiving the 2019 Jill Porteous Memorial Award
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Emeritus Consultant Pathologist Awards
PathWest held its inaugural Emeritus Consultant Pathologist Awards, recognising 
long and distinguished service by consultant pathologists following their retirement. 

With a combined length of service of more than 200 years, retired pathologist’s  
Dr Peter Hollingsworth, Dr Jennet Harvey, Dr Martyn French, Dr Frank Christensen 
and Dr Kerryn Christiansen were awarded this honour, all having a lasting legacy 
at PathWest, not only as leaders in their field, but also as highly valued mentors, 
teachers, researchers, colleagues and friends.

Stars of COVID-19
The Australasian College of Health Service Management’s Stars of COVID awards 
highlighted five PathWest nominees who helped manage the pandemic in WA. 

 Adrian Bautista - Chief Financial Officer

 Raymond Brockenshire - Medical Scientist in Charge, Broome 

 Jo Montgomery - Senior Medical Scientist in Charge, Molecular Diagnostics, 
QEII

 Elaine Toogood - Manager of Specimen Collection Services

 Dr David Speers - Head of Microbiology, QEII

These esteemed PathWest staff demonstrated fantastic leadership during this 
unprecedented health crisis and continue to play a significant role in contributing to 
keeping WA safe during the COVID-19 pandemic.

RCPA Awards
PathWest shone at the 2019 RCPA Awards, with three of PathWest’s exceptional 
staff receiving prestigious awards.

 RCPA Honorary Fellowship - Dr Gerard Cadden (Forensic Pathology)

 RCPA Distinguished Fellow Award - Dr Dominic Spagnolo (Anatomical 
Pathology)

 RCPA Pathology Article of the Year Award for 2019 - Dr Ben Dessauvagie 
(Anatomical Pathology)

 RCPA Journal Pathology Article of the Year 2019 - Dr Ben Dessauvagie 
(Anatomical Pathology)

Dr Jennet Harvey with Dr Dominic Mallon
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Connecting to My Health Record
PathWest is committed to making healthcare more accessible and transparent for 
patients. In line with the WA Health Digital Strategy 2020-2030 and the Sustainable 
Health Review, PathWest increased its connection to My Health Record, with 
results from any blood or specimen collection taken at a PathWest Collection 
Centre uploaded to the system.

PathWest began uploading public hospital pathology results in December 2018, 
and this addition provides Western Australians with convenient access to all their 
pathology results in one place, empowering them with their own health information.  

As the only pathology provider in WA connected to My Health Record, PathWest 
provides secure access to the requesting doctor, who can access results as soon 
as they are available, with patient access available seven days later. 

Biobank for WA one step closer
A biobank enabling WA researchers to translate discoveries into improved disease 
detection, diagnosis and treatment through access to a comprehensive collection of 
biospecimens is one step closer thanks to the work and backing of PathWest 
clinicians.

In 2018/19, the WA Health Translation Network identified an overwhelming need for 
a centralised biobank in WA to be established with a database that includes 
functions to identify stored samples, how they are processed and a robust quality 
control process.

PathWest’s Diagnostic Genomics department has since determined infrastructure 
requirements for the establishment of a biobank, recognising that its development 
should have the capacity to collect, process and store large numbers of high-quality 
research samples and associated data, across cohorts and registries for different 
areas of health research in WA.

A steering committee was formed in 2019/20 with stakeholders from various health, 
university and research institutions, to fully scope requirements and progress the 
project in 2020/21.

In 2019/20 6,223,510 results were 
uploaded to My Health Record.
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Statewide Comprehensive Genomic Testing
In 2018/19, $19 million was allocated by the Federal Government for the expansion 
of the Statewide Comprehensive Genomic Testing service. Additional funding was 
allocated by PathWest in 2019/20, to fast track the commencement of the service 
in July 2020. 

The service will revolutionise how cancer is treated in WA by further understanding 
genetics in much greater detail.

In alignment with the WA Precision Oncology project and the WA Cancer Plan 
(2020-2025), the project uses state-of-the-art technology to test tumours to 
determine the genomic composition and better inform treatment options.

PathWest scientists and pathologists will use next generation sequencing 
technologies to examine the DNA and RNA of cancer cells, looking for any genetic 
aberrations of diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic significance. The molecular 
analysis will help determine a precise cancer diagnosis, enabling clinicians to more 
accurately treat cancer based on the genomic profile and not solely on the cancer 
morphology or location of the tumour in the body.

The project will match WA cancer patients to a personalised treatment regimen and 
determine eligibility for clinical trials, with the aim to improve cancer survival rates 
and reduce unnecessary exposure to chemotherapies.

Previously, PathWest’s genomic cancer testing focussed on five cancer types and 
used a small panel of testing strategies. This project will significantly expand the 
testing to a much broader range of cancer types, use large gene panels and will 
ultimately see testing of every cancer type received by PathWest.

PathWest pathologists and scientists will collaborate with clinicians, scientist and 
other experts in the field from RPH, SCGH, FSH and King Edward Memorial 
Hospital, Genetic Services WA, Linear, Department of Health (Office of Population 
Health Genomics), and the UWA School of Public Health to implement the project.
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Investing in equipment
The use of contemporary technology and equipment at PathWest has continued to 
expand, with pathologists and scientific staff provided with the latest instruments to 
maintain a high standard pathology testing service.
Almost $1.9 million was allocated to purchase the latest technology and equipment 
for PathWest.

Trace metal testing at PathWest
PathWest is the only local provider of clinical trace and toxic elements testing 
in WA, delivering routine metals testing for clinical purposes and biological 
monitoring of workers in the mining industry within WA and interstate.
The purpose of biological monitoring of trace and toxic elements exposure is 
to assess health risk through the evaluation of internal dose, achieving an 
estimate of the biologically active body burden of the chemical in question. 
In 2019/20, the $195,294 PlasmaQuant ICPMS analyser was purchased for 
the QEII Biochemistry Department to replace an aging instrument. PathWest 
will benefit from the superior technology, with increased sensitivities, 
increased capacity for throughput and more efficiency in sample analysis, 
resulting in reduced operating costs and better health outcomes. 

Equipment 2019/20

Coagulation instruments $25,500

Biochemistry analysers $190,000

Minor equipment $130,180

Histopathology – microtomes $17,550

PlasmaQuant ICPMS $195,294

Biochemistry analysers $365,200

Magnapure $130,000

Thermal cyclers $23,163

Cassette markers $90,124

Platelet incubator $23,250

Concentrator $23,510

Compact flow cytometer system $99,000

Media sterilisers $45,400

Blood culture instruments $18,100

Genetic analyser $90,771

Blood gas analyser $26,500

FT IR spectrophotometer $44,865

LC mass spectrometer $249,971

HPLC detectors $45,454

Point of Care instruments $42,039

Total $1,875,872
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COVID-19 equipment
To ensure PathWest had the capacity to respond to the increased demands on the 
molecular diagnostic teams, an additional $2 million was spent on equipment to 
boost COVID-19 testing capacity within the laboratories at QEII and FSH, with 
analysers also purchased for eight regional locations.

Equipment 2019/20

2 x CFX384 Touch System  $70,997.00 

1 x LightCycler 480 II, 96-well  $60,000.00 

2 x CFX384 Touch System  $71,052.00 

2 x GeneXpert Infinity 48-48 site  $606,588.00 

2 x Mantis Liquid Handling $99,538.28 

3 x Hamilton Starlet 8 AL Automated Liquid 
Handlers $567,500.00 

2 x Kingfisher Extraction  $184,016.02 

2 x CFX384 Touch System  $70,957.00 

8 x GeneXpert  $253,650.00 

2 x UV/HEPA for Hamilton STAR $70,000.00 

 $2,054,298.30 

Infinite possibilities with robotic testing technology
In April 2020, two robotic analysers were rolled out at the QEII and FSH 
laboratories to provide clinicians and patients with rapid COVID-19 test 
results necessary to make quick decisions regarding the treatment and care 
of patients.
The GeneXpert® Infinity 48 analyser provides test results in under one hour 
and have the capability to test almost 1,300 samples per day. 
Due to limited global supply of reagents, the GeneXpert® analysers were only 
used for critically ill or clinically urgent patients who required COVID-19 testing.
With a large test menu, the cutting-edge analysers are a valuable addition to 
the microbiology laboratories, not only performing COVID-19 analysis, but 
also testing for other hospital-acquired and infectious diseases.
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Key Performance Indicators
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Certification of key performance indicators 

PATHWEST LABORATORY MEDICINE WA
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records,  
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess PathWest’s performance, and  
fairly represent the performance of PathWest for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

Mr Joe Boyle
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
PATHWEST
7 October 2020
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Performance Management  
Framework 
The Outcome Based Management (OBM) framework describes how outcomes, 
services and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are used to measure WA Health 
system performance. 

PathWest is responsible for delivering and reporting against:

Outcome 2 - Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services 
that help Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.

A new service, “Pathology Services”, was included in WA Health’s  
OBM framework to recognise PathWest for being established as a  
Statutory Authority from 1 July 2018.

The OBM KPIs measure the effectiveness and efficiency of the services  
delivered against agreed State Government priorities and desired outcomes.
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Performance Management Framework 
The alignment of 2019/20 PathWest key performance indicators to State Government and WA Health system goals are demonstrated below:

Strong communities – Safe communities and supported families.   WA GOVERNMENT GOAL

Delivery of safe, quality, financially sustainable and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians.   WA HEALTH SYSTEM GOAL

Pathology Services – The provision of Statewide external diagnostics services across the full range of pathology  
disciplines inclusive of forensic biology and pathology services to other WA Government agencies and services  
provided to the public by PathWest. This service also includes the operational costs of PathWest in delivering the 
services to both health services providers and the public.

   SERVICE DELIVERED

Outcome 2 – Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help  
Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.   WA  HEALTH OUTCOMES

   PATHWEST’S KEY
   PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Key effectiveness indicator
KPI 1 – Percentage of PathWest test 
results availa    ble to Emergency 
Departments (ED) within the required 
timeframe (in laboratory to validated time): 
(a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes); 
(b) Potassium (40 minutes): 
(c) Troponin (50 minutes).

Key effectiveness indicator
KPI 2 – Percentage of 
PathWest Pathology Quality 
Assurance Program results 
within an acceptable range.

Key efficiency indicator
KPI 3 – Average cost of pathology 
services per test panel.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
PathWest works closely with a number of government and non-government agencies to deliver pathology and forensic services for the State to achieve the targets set 
out in the WA Health 2019/20 OBM key performance indicator data definition manual.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators
KPI 1 - Percentage of PathWest test results available to Emergency Departments (ED) within the required timeframe 
(in laboratory to validated time): (a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes); (b) Potassium (40 minutes): (c) Troponin (50 minutes).

Rationale
Turnaround times for pathology tests are widely used as an indication of overall 
pathology service performance. In an ED, timely availability of pathology test results 
is crucial for accurate diagnosis and commencement of appropriate treatment. 
Improvements in pathology turnaround times can also impact the overall functioning 
of EDs by reducing the length of patient episodes and improving throughput.

This performance indicator is based on three indicators produced by the ACHS. 
The selection of these specific tests is due to their critical role in diagnosing 
potentially life-threatening conditions in an emergency setting. 

Results
542,842 tests from 11 hospital EDs were assessed against the targets.  
All the KPI tests were favourable to target for 2019/20 due to improved 
performance at our laboratories. 

Test 2019/20 
Target

2019/20 
Actual 

Haemoglobin 86% 94.5%

Plasma Potassium 67% 75.0%

Troponin I 74% 76.8%

Data Source: ULTRA Laboratory Information System, via PathWest data warehouse. 

Note: This KPI is based on ACHS indicators which are specific to pathology 
requests from EDs only. Due to the inconsistent classification of emergency activity 
in smaller regional hospitals (eg. Public acute groups C and D21); these sites are 
excluded from this KPI. 
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KPI 2 - Percentage of PathWest Pathology Quality Assurance Program (QAP) results within an acceptable range.

Rationale
PathWest performs over 10 million test panels per year. Tests that fail quality 
assurance may produce erroneous results, leading to misdiagnosis and 
mistreatment of patients and delays in diagnosis or treatment, leading to increased 
morbidity or mortality.

QAPs are provided for all pathology disciplines and are developed with assistance 
from professional bodies and with significant input from participating laboratories.

PathWest is enrolled in a number of external QAPs to meet mandatory 
accreditation requirements. 

The RCPA has the most extensive QAP in Australasia that has over  
1,000 submissions from laboratories. 

Results

Division 2019/20 
Target

2019/20 
% Passed

Anatomical Pathology  100% 98.1%

South East Division 100% 98.4%

North West Division 100% 98.6%

Regional Services 100% 96.9%

PathWest Total 100% 97.6%

The target of 100 per cent is an aspirational target to drive performance 
improvements. PathWest submitted 97,696 QAP tests for validation to the  
RCPA which covers over 90 per cent of pathology tests performed by PathWest. 
Out of target QAP results may arise from analyser variations, sample integrity, 
administrative errors or testing anomalies.  
Data Source: RCPA QAP survey result reports. 
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Key Efficiency Indicator

KPI 3 - Average cost of pathology services per test panel

Rationale
The purpose of this indicator is to provide a longitudinal measure of the financial 
efficiency of PathWest in the delivery of clinical and health pathology services 
across WA.

Results

Items 2019/20
Amounts

Expenditure $287,125,854

Activity: test panels* 10,426,812 

Average cost per test panel $27.54

Target $28.00

Data Sources: 
Ultra via the data warehouse * Adjusted for Bentley, Busselton and Fiona Stanley 
Hospital Immunology testing performed on SSC Soft Computer Laboratory 
Information System.
Oracle General Ledger 17.2 OBM Expenditure 

Average cost per test panel was below the target mainly due to lower expenditure 
than budgeted for 2019/20. The variance in expenditure was mainly due a 
reduction in costs of test (such as direct medical, surgical and diagnostic supplies) 
due to a reduction in patient activity resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Average cost per test panel was below the target mainly due to lower expenditure 
than budgeted for 2019/20. The number of test panels performed during March to 
May decreased due to COVID-19 pandemic related decrease in patient activity 
leading to lower expenditure associated with testing (such as direct medical, 
surgical and diagnostic supplies). 
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Agency performance
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Activity by discipline

2018/19 2019/20

Test panels performed 10,368,321 10,429,365

Increase in activity 3.1% 0.59%

Increase in FTE (excl. LIS and Forensic Biology) -0.5% 3.4%

Increase in tests per FTE 3.6% -1.4%

Test panels by region

Dept Name 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2017/18 - 2018/19 2018/19 - 2019/20

Biochemistry 5,389,251 5,536,832 5,612,660 147,581 2.7% 75,828 1.4%

Diagnostic Genomics 29,085 32,623 30,630 3,538 12.2% -1,993 -6.1%

Haematology 2,096,935 2,182,481 2,151,316 85,546 4.1% -31,165 -1.4%

Immunology 241,619 286,145 250,577  44,526 18.4% -35,568 -12.4%

Microbiology 1,971,133 2,009,197 2,066,862 38,064 1.9% 57,665 2.9%

Tissue Pathology 116,720 125,719 118,496 8,999 7.7% -7,223 -5.7%

Toxicology and Pharmacology 87,152 93,066 95,019 5,914 6.8% 1,953 2.1%

Other 126,642 102,258 103,805 -24,384 -19.3% 1,547 1.5%

Grand Total 10,058,537 10,368,321 10,429,365 309,784 3.1% 61,044 0.59%

Business performance

PathWest activity
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Significant issues  
impacting the Agency
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Laboratory information system
As part of the digital transformation of healthcare in Western Australia, 
PathWest commenced the rollout of a new $50.5 million LIS in 2019/20. 

Replacing PathWest’s aging and complex IT system with a single, modern system, 
is one of the most significant improvements to public pathology services in the 
State in 30 years.

The new LIS uses technology to deliver integrated pathology services for recording, 
managing and storing clinical data, and will provide faster turnaround times for 
clinicians and patients, leading to better patient outcomes. 

Roll-out of the system began in February 2020 at Bentley Hospital and Busselton 
Health Campus, with a positive response from hospital clinicians and laboratory 
staff using the system in real time, in real hospital conditions. Referred work from 
those two sites was sent to FSH and QEII enabling teams in the larger labs to get 
first-hand experience of the new system. 

Due to the impact of COVID-19 and PathWest’s critical role in the WA Health 
System response, further LIS roll-out was briefly deferred to ensure responsiveness 
and agility to the rapidly evolving situation. During this period, the LIS project team 
continued rigorous testing of the new system, resolving issues identified and further 
strengthening the system, as well as providing technical support to live sites.

A staged roll-out of the LIS recommenced in June to sites across the State, with 
Kalgoorlie Health Campus and Osborne Park Hospital going live.  

Roll-out will continue for the remainder of 2020, with all regional and smaller 
metropolitan laboratories, and collection centres to go live prior to the major 
metropolitan tertiary sites in September. This will be followed by the final roll-out in 
Transfusion Medicine and Forensic Pathology.

By November 2020, it is anticipated the new LIS implementation will be complete 
for the entire PathWest laboratory test catalogue and across all facilities. 

PathWest will welcome a new era of pathology reporting for Western Australia.

Nearly 2000 staff 
have been trained  
in the new LIS. 
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Infrastructure improvements
Osborne Park 
Built in the 1970s, the demountable Osborne Park Hospital laboratory served the 
community well, but due to aging infrastructure and its suboptimal location no 
longer met the needs of PathWest.

In 2019/20, $600,000 was allocated to deliver a modern, open plan laboratory 
within Osborne Park Hospital with increased space to accommodate larger 
laboratory equipment, as well as deliver significant functional and workflow 
improvement for staff.

It will ensure the laboratory has capability to meet growing demand for pathology 
services at Osborne Park Hospital, particularly with the growth in hospital services 
expected as a result of the Osborne Park Hospital redevelopment project.

Detailed capital planning project work has already commenced, and the project is 
expected to be completed in 2021.

Newman
As part of the $61.4 million Newman Health Service redevelopment, a new 
PathWest Collection Centre will be established to service the greater Pilbara 
region.

The collection centre will be located within the hospital and feature three new 
specimen collection rooms patient reception and waiting area.

Works will commence on the WACHS led hospital redevelopment in July 2020 and 
is expected to be fully operational by mid-2023.

Kununurra
The PathWest laboratory at Kununurra District Hospital will move to a modern 
facility located on the hospital site.

This will enable the laboratory to accommodate additional equipment required to 
meet service demand, as well as improve the patient experience with a modern, 
larger patient reception area and collection rooms. 

The move is being undertaken in partnership with WACHS contributing funding 
towards the $830,000 project.

State Mortuary
As outlined on page 37, the State Government has allocated $7.5 million to 
undertake a major upgrade of the State Mortuary, ensuring it has future capacity to 
deliver high quality and efficient services across WA. Works are set to commence 
in 2021, with completion expected in 2022.

The PathWest Osborne Park Laboratory completes more  
than 89,000 tests each year from its humble location.
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Pricing and costing project
In February 2017, an independent review of PathWest’s governance model, 
performance framework and funding arrangement recommended the development 
of a more cost reflective and financially sustainable cost and price model for the 
organisation, resulting in the initiation of the pricing and costing (PAC) project.

With an annual budget of approximately $320 million, PathWest is currently funded 
through a mixture of fee for service activities, external revenue, block funded 
services and a block funded Net Cost of Service (NCOS) allocation.  One of the 
project deliverables is to increase the number of activities and tests charged as a 
fee for service and reduce the block funded NCOS and Resources Provided Free 
of Charge (RPFOC).

The project commenced in June 2019 with a pilot in FSH Microbiology, and 
continued across the rest of the business from July 2019. The project has 
progressed on schedule and delivered a suite of fully absorbed unit costs covering 
all tests performed across the 27 laboratories within the PathWest network.

In Q3 of 2019/20, the project transitioned to the pricing analysis and the 
development of a robust pricing model. It is anticipated there will be a multi-level 
pricing strategy with two price points, one that will be used for metropolitan 
services and one price that will be used for regional services, recognising that their 
operating models are distinctly different, with varied activity levels.

The project will continue in the next financial year and run a program of parallel 
billing to test the pricing model with a view to rolling out activity-based pricing from 
2021/22.

The new pricing model aims to deliver:

 Cost reflective charging of all activities - A fully absorbed activity  
cost-based test price instead of a Commonwealth Medicare Benefit 
Scheme (CMBS) based price which is not reflective of the actual cost of 
performing a test.

 A greater level of transparency by charging for tests not currently billed 
such as genomics tests and for services provided to other HSPs  not 
currently billed such as specimen collection, multi-disciplinary team 
meetings and infection control. 

 Costs for activities for which PathWest receives no revenue, for example 
Community Service Obligations such as genetic testing, newborn 
screening, teaching, training and research.

 A significant reduction in the block funded NCOS and the RPFOC 
allocated to HSPs. 

 Greater transparency of test costs by eliminating coning and combination 
rules in the billing process to provide more clarity for HSPs at a 
transactional level. 
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Organisational restructure
Further to the establishment of PathWest as a stand-alone HSP in 
2018, work has continued on the implementation of a new 
organisational structure.  

The focus has remained realignment of operational responsibilities and the 
maturing of corporate support essential for meeting legislative obligations and 
minimum standards required as a statutory authority.  New positions were created 
to support functions such as board support, commercial revenue, business 
intelligence and assets, facilities and infrastructure.

Further progress is expected to be made in 2020/21 to establish a single discipline 
model for pathology disciplines to help drive PathWest efficiency and consistency.

During the year, two senior appointments were made, forming a critical component 
of PathWest’s Executive leadership team – Chief Pathologist Professor Miles 
Beaman and Executive Director Corporate Services Fiona Lander.

Commissioners Instruction 23
Following its issue in August 2018, PathWest has successfully 
progressed implementation of Commissioner’s Instruction No.23, to 
convert eligible fixed term and casual employees to permanent roles.
In 2019/20, 96 per cent of eligible employees had been assessed, resulting in  
239 employees being converted to permanent; a conversion rate of 51 per cent.

Your Voice in Health survey
The results of the Minister for Health’s first Your Voice in Health staff 
engagement survey were released in July 2019.
With an overall engagement score of 62 per cent, PathWest staff reported feeling 
positive about their role and alignment with goals and objectives.  They are 
committed to service delivery and patient care, workplace safety and value diversity.

Following workshops with staff, PathWest’s leadership team developed a corporate 
action plan which included actions focused on:

 Staff reward and recognition
 Improved communications
 Health and wellbeing
 Performance development.

Quarterly reports on progress of key corporate actions were provided to the 
Minister for Health.

Discipline/department specific action plans were also developed to address local 
issues, with regular reports provided to the Chief Executive.

The second Your Voice in Health survey ran from February to March 2020, with 
results due to be issued in July 2020.
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Disclosures and legal compliance
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Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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Audit opinion 
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Certification of financial statements 
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2020

The accompanying financial statements of the PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position as at 30 June 2020. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included within the 
financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Adrian Bautista
Chief Finance Officer
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
7 October 2020

Joe Boyle
Chief Executive
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
7 October 2020
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Financial statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020

  2020 2019
 Notes $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES    
Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 2.1.1  227,975  219,321 
Domestic contracts 2.2  1,510  1,352 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4.1.1,4.2  9,364  6,849 
Finance costs 6.2  122  – 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 2.3 –  233 
Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment 2.2  8,518  10,118 
Supplies and services 2.2  74,210  69,896 
Other expenses 2.2  11,369  11,322 

Total cost of services   333,068  319,091 
    
Revenue and Income    

Patient charges 3.1  34,643  35,412 
Other fees for services 3.2  153,649  147,540 
Other grants and contributions 3.3  4,481  4,187 
Other revenue 3.4  4,207  5,431 

Total revenue   196,980  192,570 

  2020 2019
 Notes $’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 2.3 11 –
Total gains 11 –
Total income other than income from 
State Government   196,991  192,570 
NET COST OF SERVICES   136,077  126,521 

Income from State Government    
Service appropriation 3.5  146,307  122,118 
Services received free of charge 3.6  10,548  9,657 
Total income from State Government   156,855  131,775 
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD   20,778  5,254 
    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Total other comprehensive income   –  – 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD   20,778  5,254 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020

 2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS    
Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6.3 22,784  14,514 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  (7,609)  5,438 
Receivables 5.1  25,241  25,774 
Inventories 5.4  4,686  819 
Other current assets 5.3  1,214  640 

Total Current Assets   61,534  47,185 
Non-Current Assets    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  3,252  2,439 
Amounts receivable for services 5.2  88,133  79,362 
Property, plant and equipment 4.1  90,606  92,245 
Right-of-use assets 4.2  5,012  – 
Intangible assets 4.3  37,871  22,681 

Total Non-Current Assets   224,874  196,727 
TOTAL ASSETS   286,408  243,912 
    

 2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    

Payables 5.5  11,738  10,898 
Lease liabilities 6.1 88  – 
Provisions 2.1.2  52,601  51,463 
Other current liabilities 5.6  33  4 

Total Current Liabilities   64,460  62,365 
Non-Current Liabilities    

Lease liabilities 6.1 4,931  – 
Provisions 2.1.2  15,257  13,268 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   20,188  13,268 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   84,648  75,633 
    
NET ASSETS   201,760  168,279 
    
EQUITY   

Contributed equity 8.8  175,728  163,025 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)   26,032  5,254 

TOTAL EQUITY   201,760  168,279 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2020

 Contributed  
equity

Accumulated  
surplus/(deficit)

Total  
equity

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000
Balance at 1 July 2019 8.8  163,025  5,254  168,279 
Other contributions by owners  – –  – 
Change in accounting policy   –  –  – 
Restated balance at 1 July 2019   163,025  5,254  168,279 

Surplus / (deficit)   –  20,778  20,778 
Other comprehensive income   –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the period   –  20,778  20,778 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Capital appropriations   12,703 –  12,703 
Transfer of net assets from other agencies  –  –  – 

Total   12,703  –  12,703 
Balance at 30 June 2020   175,728  26,032  201,760 

Balance at 1 July 2018 8.8 – – –
Other contributions by owners   150,665 –  150,665 
Adjustment to contributions by owners   (3,871)  –  (3,871)
Restated balance at 1 July 2018   146,794 –  146,794 

Surplus / (deficit)   –  5,254  5,254 
Other comprehensive income   –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the period   –  5,254  5,254 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Capital appropriations   14,105 –  14,105 
Transfer of net assets from other agencies   2,126  –  2,126 

Total   16,231  –  16,231 
Balance at 30 June 2019   163,025  5,254  168,279 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020

 2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    
Service appropriation   137,536  113,597 
Capital appropriation   12,703  14,105 

Net cash provided by State Government   150,239  127,702 
   

Utilised as follows:    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES    
Payments    

Employees benefits   (223,407)  (215,454)
Supplies and services   (89,325)  (80,627)
Finance costs   (122)  – 

Receipts    
Receipts from customers   33,240  33,582 
Other grants and contributions   4,481  4,187 
Other receipts   159,045  152,901 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities   (116,088)  (105,411)

 2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    

Payment for purchase of non-current physical 
and intangible assets   (21,087)  (14,917)

Receipts    
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical 
assets   11  130 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 
activities   (21,076)  (14,787)
    
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    

Lease payments   (1,821)  – 
Net cash used in financing activities   (1,821)  – 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents   11,254  7,504 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the period   22,391  14,887 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 6.3  33,645  22,391 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations for the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 Budget 
Estimate 

2020  
Supplementary 

Funding 
2020 Revised 

Budget 2020 Actual 2020 Variance 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Delivery of Services

Item 51 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 118,380 – 118,380 146,307 27,927 

Section 25 Transfer of service appropriation – – – – – 

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes – – – – – 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 – – – – – 

Lotteries Commission Act 1990 – – – – – 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 118,380 – 118,380 146,307 27,927 
Capital  
Item 125 Capital appropriations 22,493 – 22,493 12,703 (9,790) 
Administered Transactions  
Item 118 Administered capital appropriations – – – – – 

Grand Total 140,873 – 140,873 159,010 18,137 

No supplementary income was received by PathWest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTE 1. Basis of preparation
PathWest is a WA Government Health Service Provider and is controlled by the State 
of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. PathWest is a not-for-profit entity 
as profit is not its principal objective.

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been 
included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable 
Authority of PathWest on 7 October 2020.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 
• Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
• Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TIs)
• Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
• Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities 

have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the TIs take precedence over AAS. Several 
AASs are modified by the TIs to vary application, disclosure format and wording. 
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual 
basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will 
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the 
case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial 
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the 
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts 
affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

Contributed equity
Australian Accounting Standards Board AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature 
of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can be recognised 
as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTE 2. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how PathWest’s funding is applied 
and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items 
recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by PathWest 
in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

 2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

Employee benefits expenses 2.1.1  227,975  219,321 
Employee benefits provisions 2.1.2  67,858  64,731 
Other expenditure 2.2  95,607  92,688 

2.1.1 Employee benefits expense
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Wages and Salaries  208,649  200,706 
Superannuation  19,326  18,615 
Total employee benefits expenses  227,975  219,321 

Employee Benefits
Employee benefits include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid 
leave entitlements and paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses; and nonmonetary 
benefits (such as medical care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or 
services) for employees. Employee expenses include all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax and leave entitlements.

Termination benefit
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for 
the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when PathWest 
is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to present value.

Superannuation
The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(concurrent contributions), the West State Super, the Government Employees 
Superannuation Board, or other superannuation funds.  

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits
Non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee benefits expenses, 
predominantly relate to the provision of Vehicle and Housing benefits are measured 
at the cost incurred by PathWest.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

2.1.2 Employee benefits provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and 
salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting 
date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Current   
Employee benefits provision   
Annual leave (a)  28,619  26,682 
Time off in lieu leave (a)  1,677  1,534 
Long service leave (b)  22,262  23,204 
Deferred salary scheme (c)  43  43 
Total current employee related provisions  52,601  51,463 
Non-current   
Employee benefits provision   
Long service leave (b)  15,298  13,259 
Deferred salary scheme (c)  (41)  9 
Total non-current employee related provisions  15,257  13,268 
Total employee related provisions  67,858  64,731 

a) Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities
Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities are classified as current as there is 
no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 
The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments 
to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

b) Long service leave liabilities
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as 
PathWest does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as Non-
Current Liabilities because PathWest has an unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as PathWest does 
not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities
Deferred salary scheme liabilities classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating PathWest’s long service 
leave provision. These include:
• Expected future salary rates;
• Discount rates;
• Employee retention rates; and
• Expected future payments.
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount 
of the long service leave provision.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave 
liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.
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2.2 Other expenditure
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Domestic Contracts   
Domestic charges  1,459  1,321 
Fees for visiting medical practitioners  –  (2)
Food supplies  51  33 

Total domestic contracts expenses  1,510  1,352 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment   
Repairs and maintenance  7,230  7,029 
Minor equipment  1,288  3,089 
Total repairs, maintenance, and minor equipment 
expenses  8,518  10,118 
Supplies and services   
Supply costs  63,587  60,128 
Utilities  76  164 
Services provided by Health Support Services (HSS)   
Information, communication and technology (ICT) services  6,495  5,769 
Supply chain services  1,886  1,759 
Financial services  107  147 
Human resource services  2,059  1,929 
Total supplies and services expenses  74,210  69,896 

 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Other expenses   
Communications  464  457 
Document management  171  123 
Information, communication and technology  2,223  988 
Research, development and other grants  15  13 
Workers compensation insurance  448  571 
Training  323  304 
Travel and accommodation  1,370  1,462 
Rental expenses(a)  457  1,818 
Other insurances  185  363 
Consultancy fees  644  364 
Other employee related expenses  177  381 
Printing and stationery  1,166  1,145 
Expected credit losses expense  773  893 
Motor vehicle expenses  253  288 
Bank fees and charges  28  48 
Subscriptions and periodicals  1,085  1,154 
Licences and fees  652  571 
Rates and charges  –  3 
Legal  1  12 
Advertising  8  9 
Audit fees  240  59 
Other  686  296 
Total other expenses  11,369  11,322 
Total other expenditure  95,607  92,688 

(a) Included within rental costs are short-term and low value leases of up to $5,000. 
This excludes leases with another wholly-owned public sector entity lessor agency.
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Supplies and services 
Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution 
are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Rental expenses include: 
i) Short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less; 
ii) Low-value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less; and 
iii) Variable lease payments, recognised in the period in which the event or condition 

that triggers those payments occur.

Repairs, maintenance and cleaning 
Repairs, maintenance and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Building and infrastructure maintenance and equipment repairs and 
maintenance
Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except 
where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that 
case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated. 

Allowances for expected credit losses
The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured at the 
lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. PathWest has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

Employee on-cost 
Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment 
on-costs. The on costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long 
service leave liabilities is included at Note 2.1.2 Employee benefit provision. 
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee 
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred 
in normal operations. 

2.3 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets   
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed:   
Property, plant and equipment  – (363) 
  – (363) 
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets:   
Property, plant and equipment 11 130
 11 130

Net gain/(loss) 11 (233) 

Realised and unrealised gains or losses are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains or losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting 
from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling 
expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (from the proceeds of sale).

2.2 Other expenditure (continued)
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NOTE 3. Our funding sources
How we obtain our funding
This section provides additional information about how PathWest obtains its funding 
and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and 
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by PathWest and the 
relevant notes are:

  2020 2019
 Notes $’000 $’000

Patient charges 3.1  34,643  35,412 
Other fees for services 3.2  153,649  147,540 
Other grants and contributions 3.3  4,481  4,187 
Other revenue 3.4  4,207  5,431 
Service appropriations 3.5  146,307  122,118 
Services received free of charge 3.6  10,548  9,657 

3.1 Patient charges
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Inpatient other charges  11,149  11,516 
Outpatient charges  23,494  23,896 
Total patient charges  34,643  35,412 

Until 30 June 2019, revenue was recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. 

From 1 July 2019, revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest 
transfers control of the services to customers.  

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised at a point in time for inpatient other charges. The performance 
obligations for these inpatient charges are satisfied when services have been 
provided. 

3.2 Other fees for services

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Clinical services to other health organisations  6,742  6,901 
Non clinical services to other health organisations  71  225 
Pathology services to other Health Services and other 
government agencies (a)  146,833  140,414 
Other 3 –
Total other fees for services  153,649  147,540 

(a) Represents pathology services billed to other Health Services (Child and 
Adolescent Health Service,  South Metropolitan Health Service, North 
Metropolitan Health Service, East Metropolitan Health Service and WA Country 
Health Service) and other government agencies (WA Police Force and 
Department of Justice) 

Until 30 June 2019, revenue was recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.  
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From 1 July 2019, revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest 
transfers control of the services to customers. Revenue is recognised for the major 
activities as follows: 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical services to other health 
organisations. The performance obligations for these clinical services are satisfied 
when services have been provided. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for non-clinical services to other health 
organisations. The performance obligations for these non-clinical services to other 
health organisations are satisfied when services have been provided. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for pathology services to other Health 
Services and other government agencies. The performance obligations for these 
pathology services are satisfied when services have been provided. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for other services. The performance 
obligations for these services are satisfied when services have been provided.

3.3 Other grants and contributions
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Other grants and contributions   
Department of Health  4,481  4,187 
Total other grants and contributions  4,481  4,187 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Until 30 June 2019, other grants and contributions were recognised and measured at 
the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 

From 1 July 2019, Department of Health non-reciprocal grants are recognised as 
income when the grant is receivable at its fair value as and when its fair value can be 
reliably measured.  

Department of Health reciprocal grants are recognised as income when it has 
satisfied its performance obligations under the terms of the grants. 

The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019 has had no impact on 
the treatment of other grants and contributions. 

3.4 Other revenue

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

RiskCover insurance premium rebate  –  558 
Clinical trials  584  598 
Commercial pathology  3,271  3,684 
Other 352  591 
Total other revenue  4,207  5,431 

Until 30 June 2019, revenue was recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.  

From 1 July 2019, revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest 
transfers control of the services to customers. Revenue is recognised for the major 
activities as follows: 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical trials. The performance 
obligations for these clinical trials are satisfied when services have been provided. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for commercial pathology services. The 
performance obligations for these commercial pathology services are satisfied when 
services have been provided. 
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3.6 Services received free of charge
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:   
Department of Health – Assets transferred  1  53 
Services received from Health Support Services (HSS):   
Information, communication and technology (ICT) services  6,495  5,769 
Supply chain services  1,886  1,759 
Financial services  107  147 
Human resource services  2,059  1,929 
  10,548  9,657 

Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that PathWest would  
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is 
recognised for services received.  

Transfer of assets from other parties are recognised as income at fair value when 
the assets are transferred.   

The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019 has had no impact on 
the treatment of services received free of charge.

3.5 Service appropriations
 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Appropriation revenue received during the period:   
Service appropriations (funding via the Department of 
Health)  146,307  122,118 
  146,307  122,118 

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which PathWest gains control of the appropriated funds. PathWest gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net costs of services delivered (as set out in note 2). 
Appropriations revenue comprise a cash component and a receivable (asset). The 
receivable (holding account – note 5.2) comprises the depreciation expense for the 
year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019 has had no impact on 
the treatment of service appropriations.
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NOTE 4. Key assets

Assets PathWest utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets PathWest utilises to gain 
economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key 
accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

  2020 2019
  Notes $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 4.1  90,606  92,245 
Right-of-use assets 4.2  5,012  6,677 
Intangibles 4.3  37,871  22,681 
Total key assets   133,489  121,603 

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Buildings   
Clinical:   
At fair value(a)  72,922  72,352 
Accumulated depreciation  (5,015)  (2,503)
Total buildings  67,907  69,849 
   
Leasehold improvements   
At cost  2,126  2,126 
Accumulated depreciation  (284)  (71)
  1,842  2,055 

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Computer equipment   
At cost  323  255 
Accumulated depreciation  (140)  (64)
  183  191 
Furniture and fittings   
At cost  123  123 
Accumulated depreciation  (22)  (11)
  101  112 

Medical equipment   
At cost  27,254  22,225 
Accumulated depreciation  (8,586)  (3,969)
  18,668  18,256 
Other plant and equipment   
At cost  839  635 
Accumulated depreciation  (204)  (97)
  635  538 
Works in progress   
Buildings under construction (at cost)  –  587 
Other works in progress (at cost)  1,270  657 
  1,270  1,244 
Total property, plant and equipment  90,606  92,245 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and other leased plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
in the tables below.

 Carrying amount at 
start of the period Adjustments Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying amount  
at the end of the 

period
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

30 June 2020       
Buildings  69,849   570   (2,512)  67,907 
Site infrastructure  –     –  – 
Leasehold improvements  2,055     (213)  1,842 
Computer equipment  191   67   (75)  183 
Furniture and fittings  112   1   (12)  101 
Motor vehicles  –     –  – 
Medical equipment  18,256   5,029   (4,617)  18,668 
Other plant and equipment  538   204   (107)  635 
Works in progress  1,244   26   –  1,270 
Total  92,245  –  5,897  –  (7,536)  90,606 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially 
at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no cost or significantly less than fair value, the 
cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter 
of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold 
improvement.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics) and recognised annually to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value 
at the end of the reporting period. 

Buildings were revalued by Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations 
and Property Analytics) on 1 July 2019. The revaluation was performed during the 
year ended 30 June 2020. Fair Value of buildings were determined based on current 
replacement cost. The valuation does not differ materially from the carrying value 
assumed by PathWest on that date. The carrying values assumed on 1 July 2019 for 
buildings was $69,848,876.  

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made 
in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining 
estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the 
evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets. 

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies – Buildings
A number of buildings that are located on the land of local government agencies have 
been recognised in the financial statements. PathWest believes that, based on past 
experience, its occupancy in these buildings will continue to the end of their useful 
lives.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – Buildings
In order to estimate fair value on the basis of existing use, the depreciated 
replacement costs are determined on the assumption that the buildings will be used 
for the same functions in the future. A major change in utilisation of the buildings may 
result in material adjustment to the carrying amounts.
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Charge for the period
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Depreciation   
Buildings  2,512  2,503 
Leasehold improvements  213  71 
Computer equipment  75  64 
Furniture and fittings  12  13 
Medical equipment  4,617  4,099 
Other plant and equipment  107  99 
Total depreciation for the period 7,536  6,849 

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and 
equipment.  

All surplus assets at 30 June 2020 have either been classified as assets held for sale 
or have been written-off. 

Finite useful lives 
All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their future economic benefits.  

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the 
asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.  

In order to apply this policy, the following methods are utilised: 
• Buildings – straight line 
• Plant and equipment – straight line 

Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable assets for current years are: 

Asset  Useful Life 
Buildings  50 years 
Leasehold improvements  Term of lease 
Computer equipment    4 to 10 years 
Furniture and fittings 5 to 20 years 
Motor vehicles  4 to 7 years 
Medical equipment  3 to 25 years 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where 
appropriate. 

Please refer to note 4.3.1 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that 
has been performed for intangible assets.
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is 
recognised.  

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. Where a previously revalued 
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement through other comprehensive income.  

As PathWest is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued 
specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying 
amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However, this reversal should 
not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior 
years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling, or where 
there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of asset is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. 
Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period.

PathWest shall measure the right-of-use assets at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. PathWest shall apply AASB 
136 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and 
to account for any impairment loss identified.

87

PATHWEST  |  ANNUAL REPORT |  2019/20CONTENTS KPIS SIGNIFICANT ISSUESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY DISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCEAGENCY PERFORMANCE APPENDICESDISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCE



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

4.2 Right-of-use assets
Year ended 30 June 2020

Buildings
Motor 

vehicles Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount 6,206 471 6,677 
Carrying amount at start of period 6,206 471 6,677 
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial 
application of AASB 16 6,206 471 6,677 
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2020 6,206 471 6,677 
Additions 104 76 180 
Disposals (3) (14) (17) 
Depreciation (1,609) (219) (1,828) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 4,698 314 5,012 

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year were $180,347. 

Initial recognition 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability  
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 

incentives received  
• any initial direct costs, and  
• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset. 

PathWest has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with 
an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases 
are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Subsequent measurement 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liability. 

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to PathWest at the end of the lease term or 
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is 
identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1. 
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4.2.1 Depreciation charge right-of-use assets

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Buildings 1,609 – 
Motor vehicles 219 – 
Total right-of-use asset depreciation 1,828 – 

Lease interest expense (included in Finance Cost) 122 – 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $1,943,000. 

PathWest has leases for buildings and motor vehicles. 

Up to 30 June 2019, PathWest classified lease as either finance leases or operating 
leases. From 1 July 2019, PathWest recognises leases as right-of-use assets and 
associated lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position in compliance with 
AASB16. 

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been 
disclosed in note 6.1.

4.3 Intangible assets
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Work in Progress   
Computer software under development (at cost)  37,871  22,681 
  37,871  22,681 
Reconciliations:  
Work in progress   
Carrying amount at start of period 22,681 –
Contributions by owners  22,681  12,095 
Additions  15,190  10,586 
Carrying amount at end of period  37,871  22,681 

Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $5,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as 
per AASB 138.57 are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition.
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4.3 Intangible assets (continued)
An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following are demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale;
• An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 

the development and to use or sell the intangible asset;
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 

during its development.
Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

4.3.1 Amortisation and impairment
As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

PathWest held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets 
not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight-line basis at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets 
controlled by PathWest have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Estimated 
useful lives are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software 10 Years

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an 
indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1.
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NOTE 5. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from PathWest’s controlled 
operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities 
incurred during normal operations. 

  2020 2019
 Notes $’000 $’000

Receivables 5.1  25,241  25,774 
Amounts receivable for services 5.2  88,133  79,362 
Other current assets 5.3  1,214  640 
Inventories 5.4  4,686  819 
Payables 5.5  11,738  10,898 
Other liabilities 5.6  33  4 

5.1 Receivables
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Current   
Patient fee debtors  8,900  9,649 
Other receivables  5,418  6,610 
Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables  (1,471)  (1,235)
Accrued revenue  12,394  10,750 
GST Receivables  –  – 
Total receivables  25,241  25,774 

PathWest does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for 
receivables.

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Non-current  88,133  79,362 
Balance at end of period  88,133  79,362 

Amounts receivable for services represents the non-cash component of service 
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or 
payment of leave liability.

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (i.e. there is no 
expected credit loss of the holding Account).

5.3 Other assets
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Current
Prepayments  1,214  640 
Other  –  – 
Total current  1,214  640 
Balance at end of period  1,214  640 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in 
advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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5.4 Inventories
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Pharmaceutical stores – at cost  4,412  558 
Engineering stores – at cost  274  261 
Balance at end of period  4,686  819 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory. 

All inventories are not held for resale and valued at cost unless they are not required, 
in which case they are valued at net realisable value. 

5.5 Payables
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Current
Trade payables  4,128  4,319 
Other payables  25  39 
Accrued expenses  2,550  2,842 
Accrued salaries  5,035  3,698 
Total current  11,738  10,898 
Balance at end of period  11,738  10,898 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Agency becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period 
end. PathWest considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to 
its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (See Note 6.3 “Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents”) consists of amounts paid annually, from PathWest appropriations for 
salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash 
outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of 
the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

5.6 Other liabilities
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Current
Paid parental leave scheme  33  4 
Other  –  – 
Total current  33  4 
Balance at end of period  33  4 
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NOTE 6. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the 
financing and cash flows of PathWest.

 Notes
Lease liabilities 6.1
Finance costs 6.2
Cash and cash equivalents 6.3
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3.1
Commitments 6.4
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 6.4.1
Capital commitments 6.4.2
Other expenditure commitments 6.4.3

6.1 Lease liabilities 
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease 
liabilities:

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Current 88  – 
Non-current 4,931  – 
 5,019 –

PathWest’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for:
PathWest measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value 
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, PathWest uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western 
Australia Treasury Corporation. 

Lease payments included by PathWest as part of the present value calculation of 
lease liability include:  
•  Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 

receivable; 
•  Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using 

the index or rate as at the commencement date; 
•  Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
•  The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be 

exercised); and
•  Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects 

PathWest exercising an option to terminate the lease. 

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable 
lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case 
the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease 
term by PathWest if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated). 

93

PATHWEST  |  ANNUAL REPORT |  2019/20CONTENTS KPIS SIGNIFICANT ISSUESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY DISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCEAGENCY PERFORMANCE APPENDICESDISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCE



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

6.1 Leases (continued)
Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are 
dependent on sales are recognised by PathWest in profit or loss in the period in 
which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with Note 4.1.2

Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; 
and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to 
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

6.2 Finance costs
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Lease interest expense  122  – 
  122  – 

Finance costs includes the interest component of lease liability repayments.

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Current
Cash and cash equivalent 22,784 14,514 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

– assets held for other specific purposes (a) 7,609 5,438 
Total current 30,393 19,952 

Non-current 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

– Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 3,252 2,439 
Total non-current 3,252 2,439 
Balance at end of period 33,645 22,391 

(a)  Funds held for specific purposes including capital works.

(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a 
reporting period that occurs every 11th year.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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6.4 Commitments

6.4.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Commitments in relation to non-cancellable leases  
contracted at the end of the reporting period but not  
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within 1 year –  2,314 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years –  5,611 
Later than 5 years –  6 
  –  7,931 

From 1 July 2019, PathWest has recognised the right-of-use assets and 
corresponding lease liability for all non-cancellable operating lease commitments, 
apart from short term and low value leases. Refer to Note 6.1.

6.4.2 Capital commitments
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted  
capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported  
in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  6,575  9,332 
Total capital expenditure commitments  6,575  9,332 

The total value or quantum presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive.

6.4.3 Other expenditure commitments
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Other expenditure commitments contracted at the  
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are  
payable as follows:
Within 1 year  13,919  9,478 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1,937  1,325 
Total other expenditure commitments  15,856  10,803 
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NOTE 7. Risks and contingencies
This section sets out the key risk management policies and measurements 
techniques of PathWest.

 Notes
Financial instruments 7.1
Contingent liabilities 7.2.1
Contingent assets 7.2.2

7.1 Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Financial Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 22,784  14,514 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10,861  7,877 
Financial assets at amortised cost(a)  113,374  105,136 
Total financial assets  147,019  127,527 
   
Financial Liabilities   
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  11,738  10,898 
Total financial liabilities  11,738  10,898 

(a) The amount of receivables/Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST 
recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of 
financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best 
estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.

7.2.1 Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the 
financial statements:

Litigation in progress
PathWest is not aware of any litigation proceedings as at reporting date.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 PathWest is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where 
sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated 
– investigation required, PathWest may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any suspected contaminated sites 
reported under the Act.

7.2.2 Contingent assets
 At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any contingent assets.
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NOTE 8. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting 
standards or other pronouncements for the understanding of this financial report.

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting 
period 8.1
Initial application of Australian Accounting 
Standards 8.2
Key management personnel 8.3
Related party transactions 8.4
Related bodies 8.5
Affiliated bodies 8.6
Remuneration of auditors 8.7
Equity 8.8
Supplementary Financial Information 8.9
Explanatory statement 8.10

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
To the best of its knowledge, PathWest is not aware of any material events relating to 
the reporting period.

8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 

(a)  AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of 
Not-for-Profit Entities

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue and 
AASB 111 Construction Contracts for annual reporting periods on or after 1 July 
2019. Under the new model, an entity shall recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service and is 
based upon the transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and rewards.

AASB 15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from the contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised by applying 
the following five steps:
• Identifying contracts with customers
• Identifying separate performance obligations
• Determining the transaction price of the contract
• Allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations
• Recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods or 
services are separately identified and any discounts or rebates in the contract price 
are allocated to the separate elements.

In addition, income other than from contracts with customers are subject to AASB 
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities. Income recognition under AASB 1058 depends 
on whether such a transaction gives rise to liabilities or a contribution by owners 
related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) recognised by PathWest.
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8.2  Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 
(continued)

PathWest adopts the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15 and 
AASB 1058. No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and 
PathWest recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of 
initial application (1 July 2019).

Under this transition method, PathWest may elect to apply the standards 
retrospectively only to contracts and transactions that are not completed contracts at 
the date of initial application. 

Refer to Note 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6 for the revenue and income accounting 
policies adopted from 1 July 2019. 

There is no material adjustment made from adopting AASB 15, AASB 16 and AASB 
1058 as at 1 July 2019.  

(b) AASB 16 Leases 
AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 
primarily affects lessee accounting and provides a comprehensive model for the 
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of 
both lessees and lessors. 

PathWest applies AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective 
approach. As permitted under the specific transition provisions, comparatives are not 
restated. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard is recognised as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit). 

The main changes introduced by this Standard include identification of lease within a 
contract and a new lease accounting model for lessees that require lessees to 
recognise all leases (operating and finance leases) on the Statement of Financial 
Position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for short term leases 
(lease terms of 12 months or less at commencement date) and low-value assets 
(where the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating lease and 
finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists.

Under AASB 16, PathWest takes into consideration all operating leases that were off 
balance sheet under AASB 117 and recognises:
(a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, 

initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, discounted 
using the incremental borrowing rate (2.0% - 2.7%) on 1 July 2019.

(b) Depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(c) The total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the 
cash flows from financing activities, and interest paid, which is presented in the 
cash flows from operating activities, in the statement of cash flows.

In relation to leased vehicles that were previously classified as finance leases, their 
carrying amount before transition is used as the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
assets and the lease liabilities as of 1 July 2019. 

PathWest measures concessionary leases that are of low value terms and conditions 
at cost at inception. There is no financial impact as PathWest is not in possession of 
any concessionary leases at the date of transition. 

The right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment at the date of transition and 
PathWest has not identified any impairments to its right-of-use assets. 
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8.2  Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 
(continued)

On transition, PathWest has elected to apply the following practical expedients in the 
assessment of their leases that were previously classified as operating leases under 
AASB 117: 
(a)  A single discount rate has been applied to a portfolio of leases with reasonably 

similar characteristics; 
(b)  PathWest has relied on its assessment of whether existing leases were onerous 

in applying AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing 
an impairment review. PathWest has adjusted the right of use asset at 1 July 
2019 by the amount of any provisions included for onerous leases recognised in 
the statement of financial position at 30 June 2019; 

(c)  Where the lease term at initial application ended within 12 months, PathWest has 
accounted for these as short-term leases; 

(d)  Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right-of use 
asset; 

(e)  Hindsight has been used to determine if the contracts contained options to 
extend or terminate the lease.

PathWest has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or contained a lease at 
1 July 2019. The requirements of paragraphs 9-11 of AASB 16 are applied to 
contracts that came into existence post 1 July 2019.

Measurement of lease liabilities 

 $’000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019  7,931 
Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application  6,793 
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 30 June 2019  – 
(Less): Short-term leases not recognised as liability  (106)
(Less): Low value leases not recognised as liability  (9)
Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019  6,678 
  
Current lease liabilities  1,749 
Non-current lease liabilities  4,929 
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8.3 Key management personnel
PathWest has determined that key management personnel include Ministers and 
senior officers of PathWest. However, PathWest is not obligated to compensate 
Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation (total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other 
benefits) for senior officers of the PathWest for the reporting period are presented 
within the following bands:

 2020 2019
Compensation band ($)   
$0 – $50,000 2 –
$50,001 – $100,000 – 1
$150,001 – $200,000 – 3
$201,000 – $250,000 3 –
$250,001 – $300,000 1  1 
$300,001 – $350,000 –  1 
$400,000 – $450,000  1 –
$500,001 – $550,000 –  1 
$600,001 – $650,000  1 –

8  7 
  

 $’000 $’000
Total compensation of senior officers  2,030  1,746 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by PathWest in 
respect of senior offices.

8.4 Related party transactions
PathWest is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of 
Western Australia.

Related parties of PathWest include:
• all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 

controlled entities; 
• senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 

controlled entities;
• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in 

the whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned 
public sector entities); 

• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and 
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with related parties
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the PathWest, there were no other 
related party transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close 
family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.  

8.5 Related Bodies
PathWest had no related bodies during the financial year.

8.6 Affiliated Bodies
PathWest has no affiliated bodies during the financial year.
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8.7 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:

 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and controls 95 95

8.8 Equity
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Contributed equity   
Balance at start of period  163,025  150,665 
Adjustment  –  (3,871)
   
Contributions by owners   
Capital appropriation  12,703  14,105 
Transfer of net assets from WA Police Force  –  2,126 
Total contributions by owners  12,703  16,231 
   
Balance at end of period  175,728  163,025 

8.9 Supplementary financial information
 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
(a)  Revenue and debts written off under the authority of 

the Accountable Authority 599  793 
(b)  Public and other property written off PathWest’s asset  

register under the authority of the Accountable 
Authority –  363 

 599  1 156
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8.10 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 are shown below. Narratives are provided for  
key major variances, which are generally greater than 10% and $1 million for the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Cash Flows, and the Statement of Financial Position.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 224,494 227,975 219,321 3,481 8,654
Domestic Contracts 1 3,272 1,510 1,352 (1,762) 158
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2, a 6,939 9,364 6,849 2,425 2,515
Finance costs – 122 – 122 122
Loss on disposal of non-current assets – – 233 – (233)
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 3, b 10,301 8,518 10,118 (1,783) (1,600)
Supplies and services 4 65,165 74,210 69,896 9,045 4,314
Other expenses 11,276 11,369 11,322 93 47
Total cost of services 321,447 333,068 319,091 11,621 13,977
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Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue and Income
Patient charges 35,788 34,643 35,412 (1,145) (769)
Other fees for services 148,784 153,649 147,540 4,865 6,109
Other grants and contributions 4,111 4,481 4,187 370 294
Other revenue c 4,991 4,207 5,431 (784) (1,224)
Total Revenue 193,674 196,980 192,570 3,306 4,410
Gain on disposal of non-current assets – 11 – 11 11
Total Gains – 11 – 11 11
Total income other than income from State 
Government 193,674 196,991 192,570 3,317 4,421
NET COST OF SERVICES 127,773 136,077 126,521 8,304 9,556

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 5, d 118,380 146,307 122,118 27,927 24,189
Services received free of charge 6 9,393 10,548 9,657 1,155 891
Total income from State Government 127,773 156,855 131,775 29,082 25,080
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  – 20,778 5,254 20,778 15,524
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  – 20,778 5,254 20,778 15,524

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
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Statement of Financial Position

Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7, e 13,631 22,784 14,514 9,153 8,270
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8, f 6,321 7,609 5,438 1,288 2,171
Receivables 24,966 25,241 25,774 275 (533)
Inventories 9, g 820 4,686 819 3,866 3,867
Other current assets 10, h 634 1,214 640 580 574
Total Current Assets 46,372 61,534 47,185 15,162 14,349

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,252 3,252 2,439 – 813
Amounts receivable for services 11, i 97,423 88,133 79,362 (9,290) 8,771
Property, plant and equipment 89,616 90,606 92,245 990 (1,639)
Right-of-use assets 12, j – 5,012 – 5,012 5,012
Intangible assets 13, k 46,188 37,871 22,681 (8,317) 15,190
Total Non-Current Assets 236,479 224,874 196,727 (11,605) 28,147
TOTAL ASSETS 282,851 286,408 243,912 3,557 42,496

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
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Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 10,908 11,738 10,898 830 840
Lease liabilities – 88 – 88 88
Provisions 51,472 52,601 51,463 1,129 1,138
Other current liabilities (6) 33 4 39 29
Total Current Liabilities 62,374 64,460 62,365 2,086 2,095
Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities 14, l – 4,931 – 4,931 4,931
Provisions 15, m 13,259 15,257 13,268 1,998 1,989
Total Non-Current Liabilities 13,259 20,188 13,268 6,929 6,920
TOTAL LIABILITIES 75 633 84 648 75 633 9,015 9,015

NET ASSETS 207,218 201,760 168,279 (5,458) 33,481

EQUITY
Contributed equity 16 202,374 175,728 163,025 (26,646) 12,703
Accumulated surplus 17, n 4,844 26,032 5,254 21,188 20,778
TOTAL EQUITY 207,218 201,760 168,279 (5,458) 33,481

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

Statement of Cash Flows

Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 18, o 111,441 137,536 113,597 26,095 23,939
Capital contributions 19, p 22,493 12,703 14,105 (9,790) (1,402)
Net cash provided by State Government 133,934 150,239 127,702 16,305 22,537
Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employees benefits (224,494) (223,407) (215,454) 1,087 (7,953)
Supplies and services 20, q (80,620) (89,325) (80,627) (8,705) (8,698)
Finance costs (122) – (122) (122)
Receipts
Receipts from customers 21, r 184,571 33,240 33,582 (151,331) (342)
Other grants and contributions 4,111 4,481 4,187 370 294
Other receipts 21, r 4,991 159,045 152,901 154,054 6,144
Net cash used in operating activities (111,441) (116,088) (105,411) (4,647) (10,677)

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

Estimate 2020 Actual 2020 Actual 2019

Variance  
between estimate 

and actual

Variance between 
actual results for 

2020 and 2019
Variance Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Payment for purchase of non-current physical and 
intangible assets s (22,493) (21,087) (14,917) 1,406 (6,170)
Receipts
Receipts from sale of non-current physical assets – 11 130 11 (119)
Net cash used in investing activities (22,493) (21,076) (14,787) 1,417 (6,289)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Principal elements of lease payments 22, t – (1,821) – (1,821) (1,821)
Net cash used in financing activities – (1,821) – (1,821) (1,821)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23, u – 11,254 7,504 11,254 3,750
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 23,205 22,391 14,887 (814) 7,504
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE PERIOD 23,205 33,645 22,391 10,440 11,254

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Major Variance Narratives
Variances between estimate and actual
Statement of Comprehensive Income

1 The decrease in spend of Domestic Contracts was mainly the result of the reclassification of leasing costs in compliance to the requirements of Accounting Standard 
AASB16 (Leases). 

2 The increase in Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses relate to the reclassification of leasing costs in compliance to the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB16 
(Leases).

3 The main variance on Repairs, Maintenance and Consumable Equipment for the year relates to the reclassification of costs to the “Supplies and Services” expense 
account.

4 The increase in spend against Annual Estimates was driven by the following key items: 
– COVID-19 related costs of $6M; 
– LIS (Laboratory Information System) expense capital of $2M; and 
– Reclassification of supplies and services spend of $1M.

5 The increase in Service Appropriation Revenue compared to the Annual Estimates was largely driven by additional funding for COVID-19 related activities, and capital 
appropriation relating to the LIS Implementation Project.

6 The increase in Service Received Free of Charge mainly relates to COVID-19 activities in Health Support Services.   
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Financial Position
7 The improvement in cash balances relate to COVID-19 funding surplus and delay in the capital spend due to the deferral of the LIS Implementation Project system roll-out 

following flight restrictions and closure of borders forming part of the State response to COVID-19. 
8 The movement in Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents reflects the improvement in the governance framework in managing Special Purpose Accounts resulting in the transfer 

of operational funds to this account. 
9 The increase in inventory relates to COVID-19 extraction kits and consumables. 
10 Other Current Assets have increased due to prepayments relating to service contracts. 
11 The Amount Receivable for Services excludes resources free of charges which were included in the Section 40 Estimate submission in July 2019. 
12 Right-of-Use Assets relate to the recognition of operating leases as an On-Balance Sheet item consistent with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 
13 Intangible Assets were lower than Annual Estimates following the deferral of the LIS Implementation Project system roll-out due to the impact of COVID-19. 
14 Lease liabilities relate to the recognition of operating leases as an On-Balance Sheet item consistent with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 
15 The increase in Employee Provisions was largely driven by lower leave utilisation during the year with the scheduled moratorium on leave due to the LIS Implementation Project, 

coupled with the impact of COVID-19. 
16 The reduction in Contributed Equity was largely timing related due to the delay in the LIS Implementation Project and the reclassification of LIS Implementation Project funding 

which has been reclassified to the State Appropriation account. 
17 The increase in Accumulated Surplus was largely timing related due to the delay in the LIS Implementation Project, the reclassification of LIS Implementation Project funding 

which has been reclassified to the State Appropriation account and an increase in the net cost of services including COVID-19 related activities. 

Statement of Cash Flows 
18 Service Appropriation cashflows increased to fund activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. This also reflects the reclassification of LIS Implementation Project funding 

from Capital Contribution. 
19 The reduction in Capital Appropriation contribution was largely timing related due to the delay in the LIS Implementation Project and the reclassification of LIS Implementation 

Project funding which has been reclassified to the Service Appropriation account. 
20 Supplies and Services cash outflows relate to additional spend relating to COVID-19 activities and the recognition of expense capital relating to the LIS Implementation 

Project. 
21 The movement in Receipts from Customers and Other Receipts mainly due to account reclassification to improve the presentation and disclosure of other receipts. 
22 Cash outflow for principal elements of lease in compliant with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 
23 The improvement in cash balances relate to COVID-19 funding surplus and delay in the capital spend due to the deferral of the LIS Implementation Project system roll-out 

following flight restrictions and closure of borders forming part of the State response to COVID-19. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Major Variance Narratives 
Variances between actual and actual 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
a The increase in Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses relate to the reclassification of leasing costs in compliance to the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB16 

(Leases). 
b The main variance on Repairs, Maintenance and Consumable Equipment for the year relates to the reclassification of costs to the "Supplies and Services" expense account. 

c The variance in Other Revenue is mainly due to the reclass of rebate item to provide more appropriate disclosure and alignment of account category and nature of activity. 

d The increase in Service Appropriation Revenue compared to the Actual was largely driven by additional funding for COVID-19 related activities, and capital appropriation 
relating to the Laboratory Information System (LIS) Implementation Project. 

Statement of Financial Position 

e The improvement in cash balances relate to COVID-19 funding surplus and delay in the capital spend due to the deferral of the LIS Implementation Project system roll-out 
following flight restrictions and closure of borders forming part of the State response to COVID-19. 

f The movement in Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents reflects the improvement in the governance framework in managing Special Purpose Accounts resulting in the 
transfer of operational funds to this account. 

g The increase in inventory relates to COVID-19 extraction kits and consumables. 

h Other Current Assets have increased due to prepayments relating to service contracts. 

i The increase in Amount Receivable for Services is due to the increase in Non-Cash Accrual Appropriation in relation to the reclassification of leasing costs in compliance to 
the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 

j Right-of-Use Assets relate to the recognition of operating leases as an On-Balance Sheet item consistent with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 

k Intangible Assets were higher than prior year following the progress of LIS Implementation Project system. 

l Lease liabilities relate to the recognition of operating leases as an On-Balance Sheet item consistent with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 

m The increase in Employee Provisions was largely driven by lower leave utilisation during the year with the scheduled moratorium on leave due to the LIS Implementation 
Project, coupled with the impact of COVID-19. 

n The increase in Accumulated Surplus was largely timing related due to the delay in the LIS Implementation Project, the reclassification of LIS Implementation Project funding 
which has been reclassified to the State Appropriation account and an increase in the net cost of services including COVID-19 related activities. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020

8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Statement of Cash Flows 

o Service Appropriation cashflows increased to fund activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. This also reflects the reclassification of LIS Implementation Project funding 
from Capital Contribution. 

p The year on year increase in Capital Contribution was related to the training costs component of the LIS Implementation Project. 

q Supplies and Services cash outflows relate to additional spend relating to COVID-19 activities and the recognition of expense capital relating to the LIS Implementation 
Project. 

r The movement in Receipts from Customers and Other Receipts was due to the timing of receipts. 

s Increase in payment for purchase of non-current physical and intangible assets relates to LIS Implementation Project spend for the year. 

t Cash outflow for principal elements of lease in compliant with Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases). 

u The increase in year on year closing cash balance relate to surplus COVID-19 funding. 
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Ministerial directives
Treasurer’s Instruction 903(12) requires HSPs to disclose any ministerial directives 
relevant to the setting or achievement of desired outcomes or operational objectives, 
investment activities, and financial activities. 

PathWest did not receive any ministerial directives in 2019/20.

Other financial disclosures
Pricing policy 
Pathology fees and charges are set under Schedule 1 Division 4 of the Health 
Services (Fees and Charges) Order 2016 and are reviewed annually. 

PathWest charges patients for pathology services in accordance with Section 6.6 of 
the WA Health - Patient Fees and Charges Manual 2019/20 issued by the 
Department of Health dated May 2020. 

The charge payable in respect of a pathology service specified in the CMBS is  
100 per cent of the CMBS amount.

Capital works 
PathWest has a substantial Asset Investment Program in the improvement of key 
operational assets and systems during the 2019/20 financial year.

Major capital works in 
progress

Total cost at 
end of previous 

period

Estimated total 
cost 2019/20

$’000
Estimated 

completion date

Replacement of LIS 10,485 16,462 November 2020

PathWest Forensic Biology - 
laboratory equipment and 
asset replacement

537 726 June 2021
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Employment profile  
Government agencies are required to report a summary of the number of 
employees on an FTE basis, compared with the preceding financial year.

By department 2018/19 2019/20
Anatomical Pathology 212.3 218.6
Biochemistry 140.3 142.8
Executive and Corporate Services 96 94.7
Forensic Biology 106.5 105.3
Forensic Pathology 26.3 28.8
FSN Management and Support 15.1 16.6
Genomics 44.5 47.7
Haematology 136.5 135.4
Immunology 61 61.2
LIS 37.8 47.1
Microbiology 307.4 311.4
Pre-Analytical 208.9 212.7
QEII Management and Support 26 26.3
Regional 257.1 269.9
COVID and other 31.2
Total 1,675.90 1,749.70

By staff category 2017/18 2018/19 Difference
Administration 187.2 204.6 17.4
Anthropologist 1 1 0
Consultant Pathologist 96.6 94.5 -2.1
IT 25.6 34 8.4
Nursing 0.1 0.3 0.2
Odontologist 0.2 0.2 0
Phlebotomy 91.3 100.3 9
Registrar 35.5 41.5 6
Scientist 704.7 719.7 15
Technical 533.7 553.7 20
Total 1,675.90 1749.70 73.8
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Industrial relations 
The focus of industrial relations matters is on promoting and fostering productive 
relationships with employees, unions and key stakeholders.  The major industrial 
relations activities undertaken in 2019/20 include:

 Representation and advocacy in matters before the WA Industrial Relations 
Commission, Public Sector Arbitrator and Public Sector Appeal Board.

 Advice and interpretation of industrial agreements and their application.

 Advice and case management of claims and disputes related to investigations, 
disciplinary matters and contractual claims, such as conditions and entitlements.

 Contributing to the renegotiation of industrial agreements including:

• WA Health System – Health Service Union WA – PACTS Industrial 
Agreement 2018; and

• WA Health System – United Voice WA – Hospital Support Workers Industrial 
Agreement 2017.

 Change management advice and support in relation to workforce changes 
including the LIS project and COVID-19 related work arrangements.

 Development, review and implementation of workforce policies, systems and 
processes.

Staff development 
PathWest is committed to building a highly skilled and motivated workforce and 
recognises that investing in the development of employees is integral to supporting 
its strategic directions and performance measures.

PathWest provides a range of training and development opportunities for staff which 
is also integral to attracting and retaining a skilled and capable workforce.

Technical staff traineeship program
PathWest provides a traineeship program in which technical laboratory staff are 
offered the opportunity to complete a Certificate IV in Laboratory Techniques or a 
Diploma of Laboratory Technology.  The program is designed to improve employee 
engagement through continued professional development, as well as to upskill 
technical staff while recognizing the skills and knowledge already gained through 
previous experience.  Since its inception in 2011, 83 staff have completed a 
PathWest traineeship.

Urine and drug screening accreditation
It is a requirement of Australian Standards 4308 Procedures for specimen collection 
and the detection and quantitation of drugs of abuse in urine that staff performing 
urine drug screen collections complete an accredited course of study.  Through an 
affiliation with the North Metropolitan Health Service’s Registered Training 
Organisation, PathWest delivers the HLTPAT005 - Collect specimens for drugs of 
abuse testing course to phlebotomists across Western Australia.   
More than 100 staff are enrolled in the online course, with 30 staff successfully 
completing the training in 2019/20.
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Leadership development
PathWest recognises the importance of developing its future leaders through making 
an investment in leadership development.

With the support of the Institute for Health Leadership (IHL), a leadership 
development program was introduced in 2019.  The program has supported the 
leadership development of 12 participants with three additional applicants 
participating in the IHL’s Emerging Leaders Program in 2019/20.

“I was fortunate enough to complete the 2019 Emerging Leaders 
Program. The program was fantastic. I learnt so much about my 
leadership capability from both the high-quality facilitators and my 
fellow participants who were from diverse backgrounds across the 
health system.”

– Kate Armstrong, QEII Operations Manager  
and 2019 Emerging Leaders Program Graduate.

E-learning
Through the e-learning portal, PathWest is working with all disciplines to develop 
online content to ensure the delivery of relevant training and development.
The e-learning portal contains mandatory PathWest-wide training including 
Corporate Induction, Aboriginal Cultural e-Learning, Accountable and Ethical 
Decision Making, Recordkeeping Awareness, Patient Confidentiality and Chemical 
Safety.  The portal also contains specialist courses including Customer Service - 
Specimen Collection and the accredited unit of competence, HLTPAT005 Collect 
Specimens for drugs of abuse testing.

Professional development
PathWest offers a package of one-day training courses for staff, designed to equip 
them with the ‘soft skills’ to be resilient and effective.
In 2019/20, the annual calendar of training was expanded to include 13 courses 
offered at both QEII and FSH, in which 184 staff enrolled.  Courses on offer included: 

 Time Management
 Assertive Communication
 Conflict Resolution
 Leading Teams for Outstanding Performance
 Performance Management
 Cultural Awareness
 Change Leadership.

Mandatory training
Mandatory training is provided to all new and existing staff members and includes:

 Aboriginal Cultural Awareness
 Accountable and Ethical Decision Making
 Chemical Safety
 Patient Confidentiality
 Record Keeping Awareness.

Below: Anna-Marie Ashley, Joe Boyle, Kate Armstrong and Tracie Easter at 2019 Emerging 
Leaders Program graduation.
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Workers compensation 

In 2019/20, there were 18 workplace injury claims accepted by RiskCover and one 
notifiable injury to WorkSafe WA.  PathWest worked closely with employees, their 
treating medical practitioners and RiskCover to achieve defined Return to Work 
objectives.

Workers compensation claims

  Nature of injury 2018/19 2019/20
Burns 0 0
Contusion and crushing 1 0
Foreign body, ear, eye, nose, respiratory 1 0
Fractures 0 1
Mental disorders 0 0
Musculoskeletal system - disorders muscles  
and other soft tissue 6 4

Open wound 3 7
Sprains, strains and dislocations 6 6
Superficial injury 2 0
All other diseases 2 0
Total number of workplace injuries claimed 21 18
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Governance disclosures
Pecuniary interests and  
related party disclosure
Senior officers are required to declare any pecuniary interests in which an interest 
in an existing or proposed contract has, or could result in, the member receiving 
financial or other benefits. In addition, key management personnel are required to 
disclose any related party disclosures in which compensation is received or where 
transactions with related parties are made. 

In 2019/20 no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or 
entities in which senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in 
existing or proposed contracts with PathWest other than normal contracts of 
employment of service.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
PathWest uses purchasing cards for purchasing goods and services to achieve 
savings through improved administrative efficiency and more effective cash 
management.  A purchasing card is a credit card that provides a clear audit trail for 
management.

PathWest credit cards are only provided to employees who are required to make 
purchases.  Credit cards are strictly not for personal use.  Should a card holder 
use a credit card for personal use, they are required to submit a Notice of  
Non-Compliance and refund the total within five working days.

During the reporting period, there were no instances where credit cards were used 
for personal purposes.
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Other legal requirements 
Expenditure on advertising 
In accordance with Section175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 PathWest is required to 
report its total advertising expenditure. In 2019/20 the total expenditure incurred 
was $8,454. The organisations from which advertising services were procured and 
the amount paid to each organisation are detailed in the table below:

 Category Provider $
Media advertising 
organisations

Australian Institute of Medical Scientists 300
Career Spot 360
Essential Signs 285
Facebook 55
University of WA 121
Copyright Clearance Centre 3,538
Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute 2,412
Initiative Media Australia Pty Ltd 1,383
Total advertising expenditure $8,454

Disability access and inclusion plan

PathWest developed a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in 2016 
covering the period 2016 to 2021.  The aims of the DAIP are to ensure people 
with disability:

 have the same opportunities as other people to access PathWest services.

 receive information from PathWest in an appropriate format that allows 
them access to the information.

 receive the same level and quality of service from PathWest staff as other 
people receive.

 have the same opportunities as other people to make provide feedback and 
complaints to PathWest.

 have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by PathWest.

 have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain 
employment with PathWest.

PathWest recognises that the majority of its facilities are managed and maintained 
by other HSPs and has limited capacity to impact on facility changes to improve 
the patient experience within facilities.

PathWest works constructively with other HSPs to identify opportunities to improve 
access and inclusion of people with disabilities to services and employment.

PathWest is committed to ensuring newly leased collection centre facilities meet 
DAIP requirements, and continues to work closely with lessors and facilities 
management teams to improve existing facilities to provide adequate access to 
clients. 
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Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes 
The WA Health Code of Conduct has been developed to comply with the principles 
of appropriate behaviour outlined in the WA Public Sector Commission’s (PSC) 
Code of Ethics. All PathWest employees are responsible for ensuring their 
behaviour reflects the standards of conduct embodied in this Code.

PathWest has a number of systems and processes in place to ensure all 
employees comply with policies and standards. All policies are available for staff to 
access on the PathWest intranet, the PSC website or via the Workforce team.

To ensure all staff are aware of and educated about the relevant policies, a 
calendar of training activities throughout the year including PathWest’s online 
induction program, core performance management training, ethical decision-making 
training and recruitment and selection training. 

The Workforce and Integrity and Ethics teams are also available to provide ongoing 
advice and support to employees.

In 2019/20, PathWest received three breaches of standard claims.  One claim was 
resolved within the prescribed 15-day period; the other two related to breaches of 
the Employment Standard (Recruitment) and were referred to the PSC.  One was 
subsequently withdrawn by the claimant and the second was assessed by the PSC 
as not being a breach of the Employment Standard and subsequently dismissed.

Employee compliance with the WA Health Code of Conduct is also monitored, and 
staff are encouraged to report any perceived breaches via their line manager or 
directly to Workforce or Integrity and Ethics teams. In 2019/20, PathWest had 
reported 37 potential breaches. Of these, 18 were found to be a breach of discipline.  

Recordkeeping plans 

In accordance with Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, PathWest has an 
approved Recordkeeping Plan with the State Records Office.

All staff are required to complete a mandatory online training module about 
recordkeeping on commencement of employment.

PathWest continues to participate in working groups to review the Retention and 
Disposal Schedules for administrative and patient records.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA) gives all Western Australians a right of 
access to information held by PathWest.

Access to information can be made through a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
application that involves the lodgement of a written request, which must provide 
enough detail to enable the application to be processed, including contact details 
and an Australian address for correspondence.

The FOI Information Statement can be found on PathWest’s website under 
‘Documents’.

In 2019/20, there were 18 FOI applications of which seven were given full access, 
four partial access, for four no records could be found, one application was refused 
and two were transferred.
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More information on the Freedom of 
Information Act can be found here.

https://pathwest-healthpoint.hdwa.health.wa.gov.au/workingatpathwest/About-PathWest/Documents/Full%20Org%20Structure%20Final.pdf
http://pathwest.health.wa.gov.au/Documents/FOI%20Statement%202019.pdf


Government policy requirements
Substantive equality
PathWest is committed to the implementation of the WA Health Substantive 
Equality Policy and addressing all forms of systemic discrimination in service 
delivery. PathWest recognises the importance of a diverse workforce and upholds 
the principles of substantive equality.

Aboriginal workforce
As part of the Aboriginal Workforce Policy and in alignment with the PSC’s 
Aboriginal employment target of 3.2 per cent, PathWest continued work to increase 
Aboriginal employment within its workforce.

Work includes:
 The application of section 51 of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 to 

recruitment processes.

 Identifying employment pathways for Aboriginal people.

 Offering employment opportunities for Aboriginal cadets, interns, graduates 
and/or trainees.

 Offering employment opportunities to Aboriginal Allied Health and Health 
Science graduates.

PathWest offers an Aboriginal scholarship program allowing successful applicants 
to complete PathWest’s six-week Certificate III in Pathology Collection course. The 
scholarship covers all course costs including vaccinations, course materials and 
textbooks. The program specifically targets those seeking a career in phlebotomy 
and specimen collection and provides graduates with a three-month fixed term 
contract with PathWest.

In 2019/20 PathWest participated in the WA Health Aboriginal Cadetship Program , 
offering placements to Aboriginal students who are enrolled in full-time university 
across various areas of study.   The program aims to provide Aboriginal students 
with paid work experience and further employment opportunities. 

Cultural awareness
PathWest holds a one-day, face-to-face cultural awareness training workshop each 
year. The training aims to raise awareness and foster and build positive and 
effective interactions between colleagues and clients from both Aboriginal and 
non-Aboriginal backgrounds.

The workshop encourages staff to review their own interactions and relationships 
with Aboriginal people, reflect on their cultural heritage and backgrounds, and 
identify strategies to promote and accommodate cultural diversity within PathWest. 

Equal employment opportunities
The new PathWest Equal Employment Opportunity Management Plan is in 
development and is expected to be implemented in 2020-21. The plan will address 
outcomes in accordance with the Equal Opportunities Act 1984.

Language services
Consistent with the WA Health System Language Services Policy, PathWest staff 
have access to language assistance services to ensure all customers or clients 
who need assistance with English or who are deaf or hard of hearing are provided 
with access to appropriate interpreting and translating assistance.

120

PATHWEST  |  ANNUAL REPORT |  2019/20CONTENTS KPIS SIGNIFICANT ISSUESOVERVIEW OF  AGENCY DISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCEAGENCY PERFORMANCE APPENDICESDISCLOSURES AND COMPLIANCE



Occupational health, safety and  
injury management
PathWest is committed to ensuring the safety of all staff, contractors and visitors.

During the year, occupational safety and health issues were monitored monthly and 
reported on a quarterly basis to the PathWest Executive Committee and Risk and 
Audit Committee which have oversight for compliance.

Consistent with five year audit requirements, an external audit of the Occupational 
Safety and Health (OSH) Management System was undertaken by 3MD.  As 
PathWest matures as a stand-alone HSP, several systems and processes need to 
be established and, as such, the Worksafe Plan was used as the audit tool.  The 
audit identified several areas for improvement, largely to address the legacy 
site-based approach which resulted in duplicate approaches.

Education and awareness of occupational safety and health remained a focus, with 
a refreshed intranet hub containing policies, procedures, information and resources 
readily available to all employees.  Training for Managers and Supervisors in 
Safety, Health and Wellbeing was rolled out through the e-learning portal.

PathWest targeted key risks for education and policy responses, including 
biological and chemical hazard management.

PathWest continued to consult and engage with employees, including Chemical 
Champions, Fire Wardens, First Aid Officers and Health and Safety 
Representatives.  

The committee structure underpinning PathWest’s commitment to occupational 
safety and health will be reviewed in 2020/21.

No Provisional Improvement Notices were issued by Health and Safety 
Representatives in 2019/20.

COVID-19 OSH
In March 2020, as the COVID-19 pandemic escalated, occupational safety and 
health advice became a core focus for PathWest, to ensure the safety of all staff 
including frontline specimen collectors, laboratory and corporate staff.  A suite of 
resources were developed in relation to hygiene, safe laboratory practices, 
specimen collection and transport.  Risk assessment was approached using hazard 
management principles, which enabled the continuation of business as usual 
activities.

A COVID-19 Working from Home policy was adopted, incorporating a streamlined 
occupational safety and health assessment of employee’s home work sites.

Employee wellbeing
The results of the Your Voice in Health 2019 survey indicated that health and 
wellbeing needed to be a continued focus for PathWest.  An intranet hub page was 
developed, containing a range of health and wellbeing resources and details about 
the Employee Assistance Program were widely promoted.  This was particularly 
important at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, when a greater degree of 
employment support was required. 

PathWest continued to implement its comprehensive vaccination program, including 
influenza vaccinations.
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Injury management performance
Injury management procedures were delivered in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA).  Targeted injury prevention strategies 
and early intervention injury management strategies assisted injured workers to continue to work or resume work after injury, both compensable and non-compensable.

Table 8. Injury management performance

  Performance area Measures Results 2017/18 Results 2018/19 Target Achievement

Injury  
prevention Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Target achieved

Injury  
management

Lost time injury and disease  
incidence rate 0.2% 0.4%

0 or 10% improvement  
on the previous 3 years Target achieved

Lost time injury and disease  
severity rate 37.5% 22%

0 or 10% improvement  
on the previous 3 years Target achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned 
to work within 13 weeks 100% 100%

100% or 10% improvement  
on the previous 3 years Target achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned 
to work within 26 weeks 100% 100%

> 80% returned to work  
within 26 weeks Target achieved

Government Building Training Policy
PathWest did not award any contracts for government building, construction  
and maintenance in 2019/20.
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AASs Australian Accounting Standards
AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board
ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards National Safety
AIMS Australian Institute of Medical Scientists 
CAR Chimeric antigen receptor
CE Chief Executive
CHHP Community Health and Hospital Program
CMBS Commonwealth Medicare Benefit Scheme 
CT Computerised tomography 
DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
ED Emergency Department
ESR Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate 
FMA Financial Management Act 2006
FOI Freedom of Information 
FSH Fiona Stanley Hospital
GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GPS Global Positioning System 
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA human leukocyte antigen
HSP Health Service Provider
IHL Institute for Health Leadership 
KPI Key Performance Indicators 
LC-MS/MS liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry 
LIS Laboratory Information System

NATA National Association of Testing Authorities 
NCOS Net Cost of Service 
OM Outcome Based Management 
OSH Occupational Safety and Health
PAC Pricing and costing 
PCR polymerase chain reaction 
PSC Public Sector Commission
QAP Quality Assurance Program 
QEII Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre
RCPA Royal College of Pathologists Australasia
RNA Ribonucleic acid
RPFOC Resources Provided Free of Charge
RPH Royal Perth Hospital
RSS Regional Support Services
RTS Research Translational Projects 
SAC Severity Assessment Code
SCGH Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital 
SHICC State Health Incident Command Centre
TI Treasurer’s Instruction
UWA University of Western Australia 
VTM Virus Transport Medium 
WA Western Australia
WACHS WA Country Health Service
WAPF Western Australian Police Force
WES Whole Exome Sequencing 
 

Appendix 1 – Abbreviations and acronyms
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Appendix 2 –  
PathWest contact details

PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
Street address: QEII Medical Centre J Block, Hospital Ave, Nedlands WA 6009
Postal address: Locked Bag 2009, Nedlands WA 6909
Phone: 13 PATH (7284)
Email: PathWest.OfficeofCE@health.wa.gov.au
Website: pathwest.health.wa.gov.au 
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PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
QEII Medical Centre J Block, Hospital Ave, Nedlands WA 6009
Locked Bag 2009, Nedlands WA 6909
T:  13 PATH (7284)
E:  PathWest.OfficeofCE@health.wa.gov.au
W: pathwest.health.wa.gov.au

http://pathwest.health.wa.gov.au
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